

Groundwater mounding and contaminant transport beneath stormwater infiltration basins. [DNR-189] 2007

Thompson, Anita; Nimmer, Mike; Misra, Debasmita Madison, Wisconsin: Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 2007

https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Y3BPSK6IES5PQ8I

http://rightsstatements.org/vocab/InC/1.0/

For information on re-use see: http://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Copyright

The libraries provide public access to a wide range of material, including online exhibits, digitized collections, archival finding aids, our catalog, online articles, and a growing range of materials in many media.

When possible, we provide rights information in catalog records, finding aids, and other metadata that accompanies collections or items. However, it is always the user's obligation to evaluate copyright and rights issues in light of their own use.

Groundwater Mounding and Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins

Anita Thompson Mike Nimmer

University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering

Debasmita Misra

University of Alaska-Fairbanks Department of Mining and Geological Engineering

Wisconsin Groundwater Coordinating Council Joint Solicitation Project Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Project #189

August 2007

Madison, WI

Table of Contents

Abstract1
Introduction2
Background and Purpose2
Objectives
Groundwater Mounding
Mounding Estimation by Analytical Methods4
Mounding Estimation by Numerical Methods8
Factors Affecting Mound Height11
Case Study15
Methods and Materials16
Study Site
Monitoring Equipment24
Model Background24
Results and Discussion25
Storm Event Information25
Model Design27
Model Calibration
Model Validation32
Sensitivity Analysis
Model Application
Tracer Study44
Conclusions and Recommendations
References

<u>Tables</u>

Table 1. Textural Properties of Materials Within and Outside Infiltration Basin.	21
Table 2. Hydraulic Conductivities from Slug Tests.	23
Table 3. Storm Event Data Used for Modeling.	25
Table 4. Hydraulic Parameters Used in HYDRUS.	
Table 5. Water Table Response, Infiltration Volume, and Model Mass Balance Error	
Table 6. Fitted Hydraulic Parameters (with Inverse Solution) for Storms 1-3.	
Table 7. Water Table Response, Infiltration Volume, and Model Mass Balance Error	
for Storm #1 & #2 with Hydraulic Parameters Interchanged.	

Table 8.	Model Application Results for Loamy Sand.	42
Table 9.	Model Application Results for Sandy Loam.	43

Figures

Figure 1. C	Conceptual Model for Hantush Solution Adapted for WSAS (NDWRCDP, 2005)	4
Figure 2. F	Finnemore 1993 & 1995 Conceptual Model	6
Figure 3. F	Recharge Volume Comparison (Sumner et al., 1999)	.13
Figure 4. S	Study Site Location Map	.17
Figure 5. S	Study Site Regional View.	.17
Figure 6. V	Nood Creek Subdivision Overview.	. 18
Figure 7. V	Nood Creek Subdivision Aerial Photo	.18
Figure 8. V	Nood Creek Infiltration Basin	.19
Figure 9. N	Ionitoring Well Locations	.20
Figure 10.	Infiltration Basin & Monitoring Well Photo	.20
Figure 11.	Monitoring Well Construction	.22
Figure 12.	Regional Groundwater Flow Direction.	22
Figure 13.	Ponding Depth and Water Table Response - 08/24/06 (Storm #1)	26
Figure 14.	Ponding Depth and Water Table Response - 10/04/06 (Storm #2)	26
Figure 15.	Ponding Depth and Water Table Response - 04/03/07 (Storm #3)	26
Figure 16.	Ponding Following 04/03/07 Storm	27
Figure 17.	Two Dimensional Transect Modeled with HYDRUS	28
Figure 18.	Model Boundary and Initial Conditions.	29
Figure 19.	Observed & Modeled (Inverse Solution) Pressure Heads at Basin Center - Storm #1	31
Figure 20.	Observed & Modeled (Inverse Solution) Pressure Heads at Basin Center - Storm #2	31
Figure 21.	Observed & Modeled (Inverse Solution) Pressure Heads at Basin Center - Storm #3	32
Figure 22.	Water Table for Storm #1 Modeled Using Storm #2 Hydraulic Properties.	33
Figure 23.	Water Table for Storm #2 Modeled Using Storm #1 Hydraulic Properties.	33
Figure 24.	Effects of Hydraulic Conductivity on Mound Height - Storm #1	35
Figure 25.	Effects of Anisotropy on Mound Height - Storm #1	36
Figure 26.	Effects of Initial Saturated Thickness on Mound Height - Storm #1.	36
Figure 27.	Effects of Unsaturated Thickness on Mound Height - Storm #1	37
Figure 28.	Effects of Matric Potential on Mound Height	37
Figure 29.	Soil – Water Characteristic Curve for Sand & Gravel	38
Figure 30. I	Model Application Parameter Combinations	39
Figure 31. I	Model Application - Effects of Unsaturated Thickness on Mound Height.	40

Figure 32.	Model Application - Effects of Saturated Thickness on Mound Height	40
Figure 33.	Model Application - Effects of Ponding Depth on Mound Height	40
Figure 34.	Model Application - Effects of Sediment Thickness on Mound Height	41
Figure 35.	Model Application - Effects of Anisotropy on Mound Height	41
Figure 36.	Model Application - Effects of Matric Potential on Mound Height.	41

Appendices

- A. WDNR Forms
- B. Regional Groundwater Flow Maps
- C. Equations

Abstract

Increased impervious areas resulting from urbanization cause an increase in stormwater runoff and a decrease in infiltration to the groundwater table. Infiltration basins are often required to recharge a portion of the pre-development infiltration volume. The localized recharge by these relatively small basins can cause a groundwater mound to form below the basin. Mound formation is important as it may reduce the ability of the soil to filter pollutants, and may reduce the infiltration rate of the basin. Therefore, an accurate understanding of groundwater mound formation is important in the proper design of infiltration basins.

The goal of this study was to understand groundwater mounding and the potential for contaminant transport resulting from recharge beneath stormwater infiltration basins. The specific objectives were to monitor changes in groundwater levels and soil moisture content in response to infiltrating stormwater from an infiltration basin, and to calibrate and validate a groundwater flow and contaminant transport model.

A 0.10 hectare (0.25 acre) infiltration basin serving a 9.4 hectare (23.2 acre) residential subdivision in Oconomowoc, Wisconsin was used in this study. Subsurface conditions included sand and gravel material and a groundwater table at 2.3 meters (7.5 ft) below grade. Three storm events, 4.93 cm, 2.84 cm, and 4.28 cm, on 08/24/06, 10/04/06, and 04/03/07, respectively, were modeled using the two-dimensional numerical model HYDRUS. Inverse modeling was performed with HYDRUS to estimate soil and aquifer parameters. A good fit was achieved between modeled and observed data for the timing and magnitude of the maximum rise in the water table. Predicted soil hydraulic parameters matched well with measured and literature values. The model was found to be most sensitive to the thickness of the basin sedimentation layer and the hydraulic conductivity.

The calibrated model was then used to evaluate hypothetical basin operation scenarios for various basin sizes, soil types, ponding depths, and water table depths, with parameters obtained from WDNR post-construction stormwater standards 1002 and 1003. The groundwater mound intersected the basin floor in most scenarios with loamy sand and sandy loam soils, an unsaturated thickness of 1.52 meters (5 ft), and a ponding depth of 0.61 meters (2 ft). No groundwater table response was observed with ponding depths of 0.305 meters (12 in) and 0.152 meters (6 in) with an unsaturated zone thickness of 6.09 meters (20 ft). The mound height was most sensitive to hydraulic conductivity and unsaturated zone thickness. A 7.62 cm (3 in) sediment layer delayed the time to reach maximum mound height, but had a minimal effect on the magnitude of the mound. Mound heights increased as infiltration basin size increased.

Introduction

Background and Purpose

As urbanization continues to expand the limits of corporated areas, previous farmland, grassland, and wooded areas are converted to impervious roads, buildings, and parking lots. These land use changes cause an increase in surface runoff and a decrease in infiltration and groundwater recharge. The combined effects of reduced groundwater recharge and increased groundwater pumping to sustain a larger population has lowered groundwater levels in aquifers and reduced baseflow to lakes and streams. As an example, the Yahara River at McFarland, Wisconsin, has suffered a greater than 50% reduction in base flow due to human activities, according to the Dane County Regional Planning Commission (DCRPC, 1999). Base flows are of important environmental and economical concern for several reasons. Base flows must be capable of absorbing pollution from sewage treatment plants and non-point sources, supporting aquatic life dependent on stream flow, and replenishing water supply reservoirs for municipal use in the seasons when water levels tend to be lowest and water demands highest (USEPA, 1999).

To mitigate the effects of reduced recharge, Wisconsin regulations require that the average annual infiltration volume for new residential and non-residential areas must be 90% and 60%, respectively, of the infiltration volume under pre-developed conditions (WDNR, 2004a). Infiltration basins are a commonly used stormwater management practice to enhance groundwater recharge. Infiltration, or artificial recharge basins, have long been used to augment groundwater supplies by using surplus rainfall runoff water and treated sewage effluents (Pettyjohn, 1968).

Infiltration basins are depressions in the landscape that function by holding stormwater for durations long enough to allow the water to infiltrate into the soil. The infiltration basin area is typically small compared to the contributing area. This localized, or focused recharge from the basin has the potential to increase the groundwater table in the immediate vicinity of the basin. The height of the groundwater mound underneath an infiltration basin is important to understand and be able to predict. If the groundwater table rises near the ground surface, the infiltration rate will be reduced, causing greater water losses to the atmosphere by evapotranspiration and reducing the volume recharged to the aquifer.

The groundwater table rising close to the ground surface also has important water quality implications. In addition to causing increased runoff volume, urbanized areas also contribute various pollutants including volatile organic compounds (VOCs), pesticides, nutrients, metals, pathogens, and other oxygen-demanding substances to runoff (USEPA, 1999). These pollutants are then transported by runoff into the infiltration basin, so that the basin might in effect act as a "point source" of pollution to the groundwater. The unsaturated soil beneath the basin acts as a natural filter for many of these pollutants. As the rising groundwater mound reduces the unsaturated zone thickness, the filtering effect of the soil will be minimized, and the pollutants will have a direct pathway to the groundwater aquifer.

Therefore, the interaction between the surface and groundwater is important for the proper design, installation, and management of infiltration basins. If the effect of various soil and aquifer parameters on the height and shape of the groundwater mound formation is known, infiltration basins could be designed to minimize potential groundwater impacts and allow proper infiltration rates.

The interactions between stormwater and the groundwater beneath infiltration basins are complex and not well understood. Analytical solutions to estimate maximum groundwater mounding have been shown to suffer from many limiting assumptions. The most significant sources of error with analytical solutions involve vadose zone storage, the assumption of homogeneous conditions, and neglecting transient flow effects (NDWRCDP, 2005). Numerical models can account for these factors but often suffer from complexity and the need for additional site-specific data. Predictions for mound height have generally been much higher with analytical methods than with numerical methods (NDWRCDP, 2005). As over estimation of mound height can have basin siting implications, an accurate estimation of mound formation is important.

Objectives

The goal of this study was to increase our understanding of the causes of groundwater mounding beneath stormwater infiltration basins. By understanding the relative importance of factors affecting groundwater mounding, the potential mound formation at future sites can be evaluated with greater confidence. The main objectives of the project were: 1) To monitor groundwater levels and changes in soil moisture in the unsaturated zone in response to infiltrating stormwater from an infiltration basin, 2) To calibrate and validate a groundwater flow and contaminant transport model using data obtained under objective one, and 3) To use the model to extrapolate field data to other hydrogeologic settings.

This report presents an overview of methods to estimate groundwater mounding, followed by characterization of the study site and model design, and concludes with modeling results from the study site, as well as modeling results from hypothetical basin operation scenarios.

Groundwater Mounding

Groundwater mounding can occur when stormwater infiltration rates exceed the soil's capacity to carry water down to the water table and laterally away from the site via unconfined flow. The potential for mounding increases when the materials have low hydraulic conductivity, the water table is near the surface, the gradient is low, and the saturated and unsaturated zones are thin (NDWRCDP, 2005). Evaluation for the potential for groundwater mounding can require different levels of effort depending on characteristics of the subsurface, available site information, and the consequences of system failure.

As a very simple estimate of basin separation to the groundwater table, a minimum of four feet of soil medium in the unsaturated zone is recommended for every foot of water in the basin (Guo, 2001). This conservative estimate is derived from the concept of soil storage associated with porosity, and is obtained by dividing the maximum expected ponding depth by the specific yield of the receiving soil. Bouwer (1990) suggests that because the capillary fringe in permeable materials usually is less than 0.3 meters (1.0 ft) high, the depth to groundwater should be at least 0.5 - 1.0 meters (1.6 - 3.3 ft) below any basin clogging layer that may exist. If no clogging layer exists, then the depth to groundwater should be more than twice the width of the recharge basin. A simple emperical estimate of mound height is given in the hydraulics literature (Parmley, 2001) as:

$$H = \left(\frac{Q\log(R/r)}{1.3C} + h^2\right)^{1/2}$$

(1)

Groundwater Mounding & Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering August 2007 where, H = initial saturated thickness + mound height (L), Q = flow (VT⁻¹), R = distance from basin center to zero mound height (L), r = basin radius (L), C = coefficient of permeability (VT⁻¹), and h = initial saturated thickness (L).

The next level of effort to estimate groundwater mounding involves analytical modeling. While analytical models have the advantage of being more straight-forward and less time consuming to use, they suffer from a number of simplifying assumptions. The more commonly used analytical solutions and their simplifying assumptions are discussed in the following section.

Finally, numerical modeling can be used to estimate groundwater mounding. Numerical modeling requires more knowledge of the site conditions, as well as experience with numerical methods, soil physics, and hydrogeology. However, the power and flexibility of numerical modeling allows for this method to overcome many of the limitations associated with analytical methods. A brief description of numerical models capable of estimating groundwater mounding is presented in the following section.

Mounding Estimation by Analytical Methods

Hantush Solution

One of the best known analytical solutions for predicting groundwater mound development was presented by Hantush (1967). Hantush solved the linearized form of the saturated, radial, groundwater flow equation subject to infiltration from a rectangular or circular area. The solution is for transient groundwater mound development beneath a recharge area with a constant rate of infiltration, and requires inputs of saturated hydraulic conductivity, storativity, and initial saturated thickness. Rao and Sarma (1981) demonstrated the utility of Hantush's mound function in representing observed groundwater mounds. Since Hantush's solution contains an error function and is therefore not very convenient to use, an algebraic approximation for Hantush's mound function was developed by Swamee et al. (1997).



Figure 1. Conceptual Model for Hantush Solution Adapted for WSAS (NDWRCDP, 2005).

Hantush's solution for a rectangular source has been adapted for use in the wastewater soil adsorption system (WSAS) industry (Figure 1 & Equation 2) (NDWRCDP, 2005). The solution assumes a homogeneous and isotropic aquifer, bounded by a horizontal water table overlying a

horizontal impermeable base. The maximum mound height, z_{max} or h_{max} , occurs at the center of the basin, and is estimated as:

$$z_{\max} = \sqrt{h_i^2 + \frac{q' h_{avg} t}{2S_y}} \left[4S' \left(\frac{l}{\sqrt{\frac{4K_h h_{avg} t}{S_y}}}, \frac{w}{\sqrt{\frac{4K_h h_{avg} t}{S_y}}} \right) \right] - h_i$$
(2)

where: $z_{max} = h_{avg} - h_i$ (L); q' = effective wastewater infiltration rate per unit area of infiltration zone (A); h_i = initial saturated thickness (L), h_{avg} = iterated head at location and time of interest: 0.5($h_i(0)+h(t)$); (L), K_h = horizontal hydraulic conductivity (LT⁻¹), I = ½ overall infiltration area length, ½ L; w = ½ overall infiltration area width, ½ W; S_y = specific yield (0.001 used for conservative, long-term solution); t = time since infiltration began (10 yrs used for conservative, long-term solution), and

$$S^{*} = \int_{0}^{1} erf\left(\frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\tau}}\right) erf\left(\frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\tau}}\right) d\tau \qquad \text{if } \alpha^{2} + \beta^{2} < 0.04, \text{ use following approximation:}$$

$$S^{*} = \cong \frac{4}{\pi} \alpha \beta \left\{ 3 + W\left(\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2}\right) - \left[\frac{\alpha}{\beta} \tan^{-1} \frac{\beta}{\alpha} + \frac{\beta}{\alpha} \tan^{-1} \frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right] \right\} \qquad (3)$$

$$D = \sqrt{\frac{4K_{h}h_{avg}t}{S_{y}}}$$

$$\alpha = \frac{l+x}{D} \quad (x = 0 \text{ for } z_{max}) \qquad \beta = \frac{w+y}{D} \quad (y = 0 \text{ for } z_{max})$$

A spreadsheet has been developed to solve for maximum mound height, using the approximation for S^{*} found in Equation 3, and is available at <u>www.ndwrcdp.org/publications</u>.

Finnemore Solution

Finnemore and Hantzche (1983) describe a simplification of Hantush's method by reducing the solution to the following single equation for calculating groundwater mounding:

$$z_m = IC \left(\frac{L}{4}\right)^n \left(\frac{1}{K\overline{h}}\right)^{0.5n} \left(\frac{t}{S_y}\right)^{1-0.5n}$$
(4)

where, $z_m = maximum$ mound height (L), I = average volume recharge rate of wastewater entry into unit area (LT⁻¹), C and n = constants that depend on the length to width ratio of the source (see table in Finnemore and Hantzsche (1983)), L = disposal field length (L), K = hydraulic conductivity (LT⁻¹), h = initial aquifer thickness + (½) z_m (L), t = time since beginning of water application (T), and S_y = specific yield (dimensionless). Equation 4 neglects unsaturated flow, and is limited to cases where there is a single permeable layer with a lower impermeable boundary. The equation has a further assumption that there is a minimum specified distance between the water table and infiltrative surface of two to five feet. Since Equation 4 is not straightforward to solve, Finnemore (1993) developed a simplified longterm solution for a trench system (Figure 2) with limited input parameters. The method is best suited for longer application times of 10-20 years, which mimics a steady state condition. This method would be best applied to a wastewater disposal field, and not to the highly transient conditions observed under a stormwater infiltration basin. Finnemore (1993) demonstrated the impact of subdividing a single disposal field into widely separated, smaller fields on mound height. The author reported that replacing a single disposal field by two widely separated fields, each with half of the area, reduces the mound height to 55-65% of that of the single field.

Finnemore (1995) developed a software program, MOUNDHT, to estimate mound height based on Hantush's solution. The program was written in FORTRAN-77, and was developed to rapidly perform the necessary iterations and to evaluate the exponential integrals (well functions) in the Hantush solution for longer periods. A Washington State Department of Transportation (WDOT, (2000) study describes an application of the public domain program, including model input and output parameters.



Figure 2. Finnemore 1993 & 1995 Conceptual Model.

Khan et al. Solution

Khan et al. (1976) developed the following solution for mounding for large wastewater soil adsorption systems.

$$H = W \left[\frac{K_2}{K_1} \left(\frac{q}{K_2} - 1 \right) \left(\frac{q}{K_2} - \frac{x^2}{W^2} \right) \right]^{1/2}$$
(5)

where H = mound height above impermeable layer (L), W = trench width (L), K_1 = hydraulic conductivity of more permeable material (LT^{-1}), K_2 = hydraulic conductivity of less permeable material (LT^{-1}), q = infiltration rate (LT^{-1}), and x = distance from basin center (L). The solution is well-suited for mounding on relatively impermeable layers in the unsaturated zone, but does not address unsaturated flow physics. It also assumes that the width of the system is much smaller than the length, that ponding does not occur, and that the water table is deep and does not cause mounding (the impermeable layer is the sole cause of mounding).

Other Analytical Solutions

Morel-Seytoux (1990) developed a solution for groundwater mounding that addressed the issues of specific yield, vertical flows, anisotropy, and transient basin operations associated with the Hantush equation. This was done by including both saturated and unsaturated flow

modeling, and by including a tailing distribution on the uniform infiltration rate (NDWRCDP, 2005). However, the solution suffered from several limitations, including lack of mound definition, a priori knowledge of temporal patterns of recharge, restrictions of basin size, and linearizations related to a simplified flow-path delineation (Sumner et al., 1999). Further improvements to the model relaxed these limitations, but suffered from the one-dimensionality of the simulation within the unsaturated zone, which did not allow for lateral spreading of infiltrating water.

Guo (1998) presented a two-dimensional surface-subsurface model to estimate the required subsurface geometry for an infiltration trench. However, applications of this two-dimensional model to a circular basin resulted in as much as twice the overestimation of the hydraulic conductivity in order to match predicted to observed mound heights.

Analytical Solutions for Mounding on Perched Layers

In addition to the water table, layers of less permeable material in the unsaturated zone can also cause mounding. The Khan et al. (1976) solution is well-suited for determining mound heights on impermeable perched layers, and Bouwer et al. (1999) presented the following equation for determining mound height on an impermeable layer:

$$L_p = L_r \frac{\frac{i}{K_r} - 1}{1 - \frac{i}{K_r}}$$

(6)

where L_p = height of perched mound above restricting layer (L), L_r = thickness of restricting layer (L), i = infiltration rate (LT^{-1}), K_r = hydraulic conductivity of restricting layer (LT^{-1}), and K_s = hydraulic conductivity of soil above restricting layer (LT^{-1}). This solution assumes that the pressure head is zero for water at the bottom of the restricting layer, which is valid if the material below the restricting layer is relatively coarse.

Analytical Model Assumptions and Limitations

The Hantush solution is based on the following assumptions: 1) *a priori* known infiltration rate, 2) *a priori* known transit time for infiltration to reach the water table, 3) infiltration reaching the water table with no storage losses, 4) no delayed drainage from the unsaturated zone upon end of basin loading, 5) a circular or rectangular basin area that is identical to the area of recharge at the water table, 6) less than 50% rise in the water table relative to the initial saturated thickness, 7) one-dimensional radial flow below the water table, 8) and no leakage from the surficial aquifer to the underlying strata (Sumner et al., 1999). All but the last three assumptions are liabilities of estimating groundwater mounding based on solutions of the saturated groundwater flow equation (Sumner et al., 1999).

Morel-Seytoux (2000) also discusses the short-comings of the mound solution by Hantush: 1) as a result of infiltration, the fillable pore space above the rising water table is lower than the specific yield, and it varies with time and space, 2) the Dupuit-Forchheimer assumption (flow lines are horizontal and horizontal hydraulic gradient is equal to the slope of the free surface and is invariant with depth) is not valid due to vertical gradients under the spreading basin, 3) the infiltration hydrograph is delayed and attenuated to become the recharge hydrograph, 4) as the infiltration rate is discontinued at the surface, water in the unsaturated zone will not instantaneously drain, and the recession curve of the mound will be slower than under the Hantush assumptions, 5) most aquifers are anisotropic, with the vertical hydraulic conductivity being an order of magnitude smaller than the horizontal, 6) the recharge process is transient, 7)

infiltration rates within a recharge event are not constant, and 8) soil conditions are not homogeneous, and less permeable layers will affect recharge and mound heights.

Although these simplifying assumptions show the limitations of analytical models, their expediency warrants their use before numerical modeling is considered (NDWRCDP, 2005).

Mounding Estimation by Numerical Methods

When there is the potential for problematic mounding determined from either a preliminary site assessment or from analytical modeling, the use of numerical modeling is required. Using numerical methods to solve the variably saturated flow equation can allow for the evaluation of complex conditions including variable infiltration rates, dynamic water tables, anisotropic and heterogeneous conditions, and unsaturated flow (NDWRCDP, 2005). Because the unsaturated zone offers storage capacity that is not considered by analytical models, an analytical model is a worst-case predictor for modeling, generally producing a higher mound than with numerical modeling (NDWRCDP, 2005). Sumner et al. (1999) showed that differences between the analytical and numerical solution of the variably saturated flow equation increased for shorter loading times, greater depth to groundwater, larger heterogeneity, and inclusion of fine-grained layers.

The reliability of model predictions depends on how well the model approximates the field situation (Anderson et al., 1982). Fewer simplifying assumptions need to be made when solving the variably saturated flow equations numerically than analytically, allowing for a more accurate representation of field conditions. Due to the greater need for site-specific input parameters, however, the most important task in using numerical models is the ability to accurately characterize the aquifer beneath and adjacent to the infiltration area (NDWRCDP, 2005). Numerical modeling involves identifying three aspects: a governing equation, boundary conditions, and initial conditions. These items are discussed briefly below; a more thorough discussion is found in the Materials and Methods section of this report.

Water movement through variably saturated conditions is commonly analyzed by solving Richard's equation (Equation 7, Materials & Methods) (Richards, 1931). Modeling unsaturated flow is more complex than modeling saturated flow due to the need to specify the relationship between moisture content and tension, between hydraulic conductivity and tension, and because the governing equation is highly nonlinear (Anderson et al, 1992). The instability caused by the nonlinearity of the flow equation can cause the model to calculate unrealistic oscillating values of pressure head. The instability must be minimized when solving the mathematical model using a number of numerical techniques.

Two common numerical techniques used to solve Richard's equation are finite element and finite difference models (Anderson et al., 1982). In both cases, a system of nodal points is superimposed over the problem domain. The numerical solution yields values for only this finite number of predetermined points. The smaller the distance between the nodal points, the closer the approximation comes to the analytical solution (Anderson et al., 1982). Determining nodal point spacing is a compromise between representing site detail and computational efficiency, and strongly influences numerical results (Anderson et al., 1992). Using a small node spacing is one way to minimize instability inherent in the nonlinear flow equation.

The finite difference method is usually implemented with rectangular cells centered around the nodal points. Aquifer properties and head are assumed to be constant within each cell, and heads are computed only for the nodes at the center of the cell. The finite element method is commonly implemented with triangular elements defined by nodes at each of the three corners. The heads are computed at each nodal point, and the head within each element is defined in

terms of the nodal values by interpolation functions (Anderson et al., 1982). The flexibility of the finite element method is useful in solving moving boundary problems such as a moving water table occurring under an infiltration basin.

Correct selection of boundary conditions is a critical step in model design (Anderson et al., 1992). Numerical models provide a solution for a finite area with a given set of input data. Unlike analytical models, numerical models cannot extend to infinity. Every boundary of the model must be assigned a flow, head, or pressure. These boundary conditions are ideally set at natural hydrologic boundaries such as water bodies or units of low hydraulic conductivity. Often, however, artificial boundaries must be selected in order to maintain the desired level of detail or to maintain a reasonable computer execution time, while not imposing unnatural effects on modeling results.

Due to the dynamic nature of recharge through infiltration basins (short, irregularly-spaced events), modeling groundwater mound formation must be done under transient conditions. Transient simulations analyze time-dependent problems, and produce a set of heads for each time step (Anderson et al., 1992), in contrast with steady-state simulations that generate only one set of heads. Transient problems require storage characteristics of the aquifer, initial conditions of head distribution, and time steps to be specified. During transient simulations, water is released from or taken into storage within the porous material. When this transfer stops, the system reaches steady state and heads stabilize. The relevant storage parameter for unconfined aquifers, typical of those receiving recharge from infiltration basins, is specific yield. Specific yield will be discussed in detail in the Factors Affecting Mound Height sub-section of this report.

Initial conditions refer to the head distributions in the system at the start of the simulation, and thus are boundary conditions in time (Anderson et al., 1992). It is common to assign hydrostatic equilibrium conditions for the initial conditions in a variably saturated flow model (Simunek, 2006). Soil above the water table is at a negative pressure head relative to atmospheric pressure. Under hydrostatic equilibrium conditions, the pressure head decreases linearly with distance above the water table, where pressure head is equal to zero. This condition occurs when a system is fully drained. Following a recharge event, pressure heads would be lower (closer to zero) than the equilibrium pressure head conditions.

Just as with node spacing, time step selection strongly influences numerical results (Anderson, et. al, 1992). Using a small time step is another method of minimizing instability inherent in the nonlinear flow equation. A balance between solution accuracy (smaller time steps) and computational efficiency (larger time steps) must be sought, with time steps on the order of seconds often required.

Numerical Model Review

Numerical codes for solving the variably saturated flow equation were reviewed. A summary of capable codes for determining groundwater mounds is provided below along with our rationale for model selection.

TOUGH2 is a general-purpose numerical simulation program for multi-phase fluid and heat flow in porous and fractured media (Pruess et al., 1999). It was developed in the Earth Sciences Division of Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory for applications in vadose zone hydrology, among others. The latest version of TOUGH2, Version 2.0, was released in December 1999, and the model is available for purchase from the Department of Energy. A graphical user interface (GUI), called PETRISM, is available at <u>www.petrasim.com</u>. TOUGH2 is a two dimensional finite difference model that performs forward modeling only. A version of the program, iTOUGH2, solves the inverse problem by automatically calibrating a TOUGH2 model

against observed data. TOUGH2 was not chosen for this study because other models were available of similar capability that provide for both the direct and inverse solution, as well as a GUI, all in the same software program.

FEMWATER is a three-dimensional finite element, variably saturated, density driven, flow and transport model. FEMWATER was originally written by G.T. Yeh at Penn State University (Yeh et al., 1992). The model is public domain, available from the U.S. EPA at <u>www.epa.gov/ceampubl/gwater/femwater</u>. Groundwater Modeling Systems (GMS) is a GUI for the model, available at <u>www.ems-i.com</u>. FEMWATER was not chosen for this study due to reported difficulties and program crashes within the GMS environment, as well as the high cost of the GUI. Version 6.0 of GMS, released in June 2007, has addressed the operating issues.

SUTRA is a model for variably saturated, variable density groundwater flow with solute or energy transport (Voss et al., 2002). The code includes both two and three dimensional capabilities. It is a public domain model available from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) at <u>www.water.usgs.gov/nrp/gwsoftware/sutra/sutra.html</u>. Utility codes, called SutraGUI, are included for pre- and post-processing. Together, all of the utility codes and SUTRA are called SutraSuite. A commercially available GUI, called Argus ONE, is required to operate the pre- and post-processing codes. Argus ONE is available at <u>www.argusint.com</u>. SUTRA was not chosen for this study due to the complexity involved with obtaining and integrating the various codes and the GUI. Other programs of similar modeling capability were available without this drawback.

FEFLOW is a finite element, three dimensional, variably saturated flow and contaminant transport model (Diersch, 2005). The program contains a GUI and has the capability of automatic calibration using PEST (Parameter Estimation). The program is available commercially at <u>www.feflow.com</u>. FEFLOW was found to be fully capable of analyzing groundwater mounding, however FEFLOW was not chosen for this study due to the high cost of the program, and because the unsaturated flow component of the model was not as robust as the selected model.

VS2DT is a two dimensional, finite difference, variably saturated flow and solute transport model (Lappala et al., 1987). The model is public domain, available from the USGS at <u>http://wwwbrr.cr.usgs.gov/projects/GW_Unsat/vs2di1.2/index.html.</u> The model comes with an easy-to-use GUI for pre- and post-processing. VS2DT was not chosen for this study due to limited post-processing options and the lack of inverse modeling and calibration capabilities.

MODFLOW (Harbaugh et al., 2000) is used more than any other numerical groundwater code (NDWRCDP, 2005). MODFLOW is a three-dimensional finite difference, saturated flow code. The code is public domain, available from the USGS at

<u>http://water.usgs.gov/nrp/gwsoftware/modflow2000/modflow2000.html</u>. A number of GUIs are commercially available to assist with operating the code. Since MODFLOW is a saturated flow code, recharge applied at the ground surface directly enters the aquifer with no unsaturated zone effects. An unsaturated zone flow package (UZF1) was recently developed for MODFLOW-2005. The one dimensional form of Richard's equation is approximated by a kinematic-wave equation in this module. The UZF1 package is a substitution for the recharge and evapotranspiration packages of MODFLOW-2005. The UZF1 module for MODFLOW was not chosen for this study because it only became publicly available shortly after this study began, and because of the one-dimensional limitation for unsaturated flow.

HYDRUS (Simunek, 2006) is a two dimensional, finite element, variably saturated flow and contaminant transport model. A three dimensional version was released in 2006 with major upgrades in March of 2007. A one dimensional version is available in the public domain. All

versions are available at <u>www.pc-progress.cz</u>. HYDRUS includes a parameter optimization algorithm for inverse estimation of a variety of soil hydraulic and solute transport parameters. The model is supported by GUI for data pre-processing, generation of the finite element mesh, and graphic presentation of results. The two dimensional version of HYDRUS was selected for this study. The three dimensional version would have been used had it been available at the time of model selection. HYDRUS was selected because: 1) it was designed specifically for infiltration and recharge simulation in the variably saturated flow regime, 2) it contains an extensive database of unsaturated soil hydraulic parameters, and 3) it utilized a robust parameter estimation technique for inverse estimation of soil hydraulic parameters.

Factors Affecting Mound Height

The shape of groundwater mounds depend on the size and shape of the infiltration basin, infiltration rate and hydraulic properties of the soil medium (Ferguson, 1990). Currently, in Wisconsin, the infiltration basins are sized according to Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) Conservation Practice Standard 1003 – Infiltration Basin (WDNR, 2004b). This standard allows for a maximum ponding time of 24 hours and maximum ponding depths of 0.60 meters (24 inches). Design infiltration rates are given in WDNR Conservation Practice Standard 1002 - Site Evaluation for Stormwater Infiltration (WDNR, 2004c).

Basin Design

Rastogi et al. (1998) investigated the influence of basin shape on the underlying aquifer system. Basins of square, circular, hexagonal, triangular, and rectangular shapes, having equal areas and transmitting equal recharge rates, were investigated. The investigators found that a rectangular basin shape produced a lower mound height compared with the other shapes, and that the groundwater mound increased with a decreasing basin perimeter. The circular recharge basin had the smallest perimeter (792.6 m) and the highest mound (4.24 m) compared with the rectangular basin with the largest perimeter (1,200 m) and smallest mound (3.55 m). However, a linear relationship between mound height and basin perimeter could not be established. Bouwer et al. (1999) found that mound heights can be reduced by arranging basins in long, narrow recharge strips instead of compact round or square areas, and by dispersing the basins over larger areas. Zomorodi (2005) concluded that the rate of groundwater rise is independent of the basin length as long as the length exceeds four times the basin width.

Infiltration Rate

For surface infiltration systems in uniform soils without surface clogging, infiltration rates will be approximately equal to the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the soil (Bouwer et al., 1999). Ponding will occur when the infiltration rate is less than the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the receiving soil (NDWRCDP, 2005).

Infiltration rates follow Darcy's Law, which equals the product of the saturated hydraulic conductivity and the flow gradient (Hillel, 2004). Without ponding, the maximum gradient is unity, where the hydraulic head equals the elevation head. The maximum infiltration rate in this case equals the saturated hydraulic conductivity. However, ponding will occur if the saturated hydraulic conductivity is less than the infiltration rate. When ponding occurs, the low conductivity layer causing the ponding can infiltrate water at a rate higher than the saturated hydraulic conductivity because the ponding causes a gradient greater than unity. The gradient will equal the head difference between the top of the pond and the bottom of the low conductivity layer, divided by the thickness of the layer.

Infiltration rates depend on initial soil wetness and suction, as well as on the soil structure, texture, and layering (Hillel, 2004). Infiltration rate into a dry soil generally decreases with time to a minimum value equal to the saturated hydraulic conductivity, due to decreasing gradients in soil-water pressure within the zone of infiltration (Hillel, 2004). If the soil surface is initially dry and then is suddenly saturated by ponding, the difference in hydraulic potential between the saturated surface and the relatively dry soil just below it creates a steep matric suction gradient. As the wetted zone deepens, the same difference in potential acting over a greater distance results in a diminishing gradient and a reduced infiltration rate.

Under ponding conditions, infiltration generally does not remain constant as assumed in the Hantush equation (Equation 2). Infiltration varies temporally as previously described, and with ponding depth due to changes in gradient. Solution of the unsaturated/saturated flow equation allows for a pressure head to be specified at the basin floor, equal to the ponding depth. Since ponding depth is easier to design for and control than infiltration rate, using ponding depth to estimate aquifer response to basin recharge is the recommended approach (Sumner et al., 1999). This approach is also more realistic in that the infiltration rate is allowed to vary in response to changes in ponding depth. Sumner et al. (1996) states that if the ponded depth is large relative to the sum of the thickness of the surface control layer (*i.e.*, sediment layer) and surface matric potential, the infiltration response to a change in ponded depth will approach 1:1 proportionality. If ponding depth is small in relation to this sum, the infiltration response to a change in ponded depth will be negligible.

Once the infiltrating front reaches the groundwater table and a mound develops, the infiltration rate decreases further due to a back pressure effect in the growing groundwater mound. The operation of a basin during loading has been found to be more controlled by seepage recharging to groundwater than by the infiltration rate into soil (Guo, 2001).

Unsaturated Zone Effects

Neglecting unsaturated zone effects produced errors in estimating groundwater mounding of up to 800% compared to methods that include vadose zone storage (Sumner et al., 1999). The error was due in large part to water being released from the vadose zone over a period of time longer than the length of basin loading (Figure 3). Water entered the pore storage during basin loading and then was released slowly during basin rest. In contrast, when the Hantush method is used, water is delivered to the water table at the full infiltration rate as at land surface until the end of basin loading. Once basin loading is complete, water delivered to the water table is stopped immediately. This discrepancy caused by the storage effects were greatest during highly transient events, such as short basin loading periods typical of infiltration basins (Sumner et al., 1999). As the time of basin loading increases, the system approaches steady state, and the storage effects become negligible. A relatively thick vadose zone would amplify the delayed drainage effects, due to the larger capacity for water storage. The soil storage effect was found to not be as significant during mound recession as during mound formation (Guo, 2001).





Specific Yield

Specific yield is a storage term that accounts for the release of water from storage. Specifically, it is the ratio of the volume of water a soil will yield by gravity drainage to the volume of the soil (Healy et al., 2002). Values of specific yield range from 0.1 to 0.4, with 0.25 – 0.30 for coarse sand and gravel (Anderson et al., 1992). Groundwater mound heights generally decrease as specific yield increases (Rai et al., 2001). Specific yield is different than the porosity term commonly used in analytical equations for mound rise.

Specific yield increases as depth to the water table decreases (Healy et al., 2002). Specific yield also increases with time due to delayed drainage from the unsaturated zone. Aquifer analyses that do not take into account unsaturated flow will predict values of specific yield that are unrealistically low (Healy et al., 2002). These limitations will cause overestimation of mound height. Conditions with a shallow water table where the capillary fringe intersects the land surface were found to be problematic using the Hantush method because of the difficulty in estimating the effective specific yield. The specific yield in this case would vary spatially and temporally and would not be simply equal to the difference of the saturated moisture content and field capacity (Sumner et al., 1999).

Aquifer Thickness and Transmissivity

Groundwater mounding decreases as the saturated thickness increases (NDWRCDP, 2005). A greater saturated thickness has a greater transmissivity (the product of hydraulic conductivity and saturated thickness), and more capacity to convey recharge water away from under the basin. Mounding decreases more rapidly with increased saturated thickness for higher hydraulic conductivity values because a given rise in head increases transmissivity more in a high hydraulic conductivity material (NDWRCDP, 2005). Zomorodi (2005) concluded that the rate of mound rise does not depend on saturated thickness of the aquifer as long as the thickness exceeds the width of the basin.

The assumption of constant transmissivity and use of transmissivity for an entire unconfined aquifer thickness can lead to error in estimating mound height. The assumption of constant transmissivity is acceptable only if the mound height is small compared with the thickness of the aquifer (Guo, 2001). A difficulty in obtaining meaningful mounding estimates from analytical solutions (where transmissivity is assumed to be constant) is getting a representative value of aquifer transmissivity (Bouwer et al., 1999). Accurate predictions of transmissivity for rising groundwater levels are difficult to make and require considerable judgment. The most reliable transmissivity data come from existing recharge systems and calibrated aquifer models, followed by Theis-type pumping tests, step-drawdown and other pumped well tests, and slug tests (Bouwer et al., 1999). In thick, unconfined aquifers, streamlines of recharge flow are concentrated in the upper portion of the aquifer, with less flow in the deeper part of the aquifer (Bouwer et al., 1999). The streamlines in the groundwater mound also tend to be more vertical.

Consequently, the use of transmissivities of the entire aquifer for mound calculations could then under-estimate the mound height. Bouwer (1962) showed that for rectangular recharge areas, the thickness of the active, upper portion of the isotropic aquifer is about equal to the width of the recharge area. In an anisotropic system, the effective thickness will be less than the width of the recharge area.

Hydraulic Conductivity and Anisotropy

A decrease in hydraulic conductivity increases mound height. Hydraulic conductivity is the most influential parameter on mound height (NDWRCDP, 2005). This is problematic since hydraulic conductivity is difficult to accurately measure. Freeze and Cherry (1979) indicate that the value of hydraulic conductivity can vary by two orders of magnitude for a particular soil type. Hydraulic conductivity can vary by an order of magnitude spatially due to heterogeneities within an apparently homogeneous soil. Therefore, it is recommended to evaluate mounding using a range of hydraulic conductivities above, and most importantly below, the expected value (NDWRCDP, 2005).

The assumption of an isotropic hydraulic conductivity (required in an analytical solution) can also be a source of error in predicting mound height. Typically, the vertical hydraulic conductivity (K_v) is less than the horizontal hydraulic conductivity (K_h). The assumption of isotropic hydraulic conductivity can over-predict mound height if the vertical hydraulic conductivity (K_v) is used, and under-predict mound height if the horizontal hydraulic conductivity (K_h) is used. For analytical solutions, an equivalent homogeneous hydraulic conductivity value can be found by using the square root of the product of the horizontal and vertical hydraulic conductivity values ([K_h*K_v]^{-0.5}) (NDWRCDP, 2005). Numerical solutions can account for anisotropy in the hydraulic conductivity.

The degree of impact of anisotropy on mounding is site specific and depends on the saturated thickness as well as the value of hydraulic conductivity relative to basin loading and the proximity to hydraulic boundaries (NDWRCDP, 2005). An anisotropy ratio of at least 2:1 is likely in most soils (NDWRCDP, 2005). The influence of anisotropy is also more significant in thicker aquifers. Transmissivity controls the increased gradient needed to carry water away from the recharge area. However, horizontal hydraulic conductivity spans a much larger range of values than saturated thickness, making it more important to the magnitude of mounding than saturated thickness (NDWRCDP, 2005).

Water Table Slope

The assumption of a flat water table (required in an analytical model) can lead to errors in estimating mound height. In a thin aquifer, mounding will increase as the slope of the water table decreases. In a thick aquifer, mounding will decrease with a decrease in water table slope, since only a small gradient is required to transmit the recharged water in a larger flow field (NDWRCDP, 2005).

Rastogi et al. (1998) reported greater mound heights underneath the downgradient side of a recharge basin compared to the upgradient side, and that the bulk of the recharge contribution is stored downgradient. It was suggested that the mound slope was perpendicular to the predominant flow direction.

All infiltrated water eventually moves downgradient, essentially decreasing the flow area under a basin by a factor of two (NDWRCDP, 2005). The decrease in flow area may be offset by the increased gradient, depending on aquifer thickness, regional flow table, and increased loading. Therefore, the impact of water table slope on mounding is not intuitively obvious, and should be modeled numerically to determine the effects of the competing processes (NDWRCDP, 2005).

Case Study

A literature review found few studies on the application of numerical modeling specific to recharge or infiltration basins. The most comprehensive study found in the literature is summarized below.

The USGS conducted field experiments at a one acre rapid infiltration basin in Orange County Florida, in 1992 (Sumner et al., 1996). The site consisted of 37 feet of unsaturated zone and 52 feet of saturated zone. Soils were a poorly graded sand with some clay, and had horizontal and vertical hydraulic conductivities of 150 and 45 feet per day, respectively. The basin was flooded in a cycle for 17 hours followed by a rest period of four to nine hours. Ponded depth in the basin was maintained at an average of four inches, and the system produced an infiltration rate of 5.5 feet per day. A network of monitoring wells in and around the basin recorded groundwater levels during and after basin loading.

The two dimensional, variably saturated flow model VS2DT (Lappala et al., 1987) was applied to describe the flow system beneath the basin under observed and hypothetical basin operations, and to estimate hydraulic properties of the soil. The model design included a spatial grid discretization of 0.5 feet vertical by 3.0 feet horizontal beneath the basin. Three model layers were used to account for various layering of fines mixed with the sand.

Boundary conditions were set to no-flow at the basin center (assuming radial symmetry), no flow at the base, and a constant head at a distance of 1,000 feet from the basin, where no change in water level was observed. A pressure head equal to the average ponding depth of four inches was set for the basin floor. Initial conditions were set with a water table at 37.5 feet below grade. Since tensiometric data indicated that the unsaturated zone had not drained to an equilibrium condition, an equilibrium head distribution was only set to a height of 1.5 feet above the water table. Above this height, matric potential was set to a constant value of 1.5 feet.

The model was calibrated by altering infiltration rate, hydraulic heads, moisture front transit time, laboratory-derived soil-moisture curves, field-observed soil/aquifer textural patterns and tensiometric data, and literature-derived estimates of subsurface hydraulic properties. A model was developed that approximately replicated the field measurements. The model was found to be most sensitive to vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity, and residual and saturated moisture content.

The flow model indicated that infiltration capacity is unaffected by small (less than 10 feet) increases in depth to the water table. However, water table elevation increases of 15 and 20 feet produced a reduction in the infiltration capacity of the basin by 8 and 25%, respectively. Increasing the ponded depth from 4 to 12 inches increased basin capacity by less than 6 and 11%, respectively.

About 1.5 days were required for the initial infiltration front to reach the water table, and a maximum mound height of seven feet was recorded during a two week loading period. Pore water velocity was found to be 20 feet per day, predominantly in the vertical direction. As the infiltrating front reached the water table, pore-water velocity was estimated to have changed to 10 feet per day, and predominantly in the horizontal direction. The large radial component of flow below the water table implied that infiltrated water moves preferentially in the shallow part of the saturated zone after reaching the water table.

Methods and Materials

Study Site

The infiltration basin studied serves a residential subdivision located in Oconomowoc, Wisconsin (Figures 4 & 5). The Wood Creek subdivision is a 9.4 hectare (23.2 acre) singlefamily development completed in 2003 (Figure 6 & 7). A single infiltration basin receives runoff from the subdivision via storm sewer. The basin is located in the NE¼ of the SW¼ of Section 27, T8N, R17E, Waukesha County, Wisconsin.

The landscape in the area was largely formed during the Wisconsin Glaciation, and is characterized by stratified silt, sand and gravel deposited by meltwater (Clayton, 2001). The surface soils in the immediate vicinity of the infiltration basin are characterized as a silt loam (USDA, 2007). Regional hydrogeology is characterized by a shallow groundwater table and many surface water bodies. Rosenaw Creek, designated as a cold water trout stream, is located approximately 150 meters (500 feet) to the northeast of the infiltration basin.

Runoff from the subdivision is directed via storm sewer to a 0.10 hectare (0.25 acre) infiltration basin (Figure 8). The basin is rectangular in shape, with dimensions of 35 meters (115 ft) long by 30.5 meters (100 ft) wide by 1.37 meters (4.5 ft) deep. Water enters the basin through a single 0.61 meter (24 inch) diameter storm sewer. Prior to entering the infiltration basin, stormwater flows through a 0.10 hectare (0.25 acre) vegetated area to allow sediment to settle. Water enters the infiltration basin over a rock gabion. The basin outlets through a single weir outlet structure on the east side of the basin. The basin was designed such that the maximum ponding depth for the 1-year, 24-hour storm is 0.46 meters (1.5 feet).



Figure 4. Study Site Location Map.



Figure 5. Study Site Regional View.

17



Figure 6. Wood Creek Subdivision Overview.



Figure 7. Wood Creek Subdivision Aerial Photo.



Figure 8. Wood Creek Infiltration Basin.

Monitoring wells were installed inside and adjacent to the basin to facilitate collection of groundwater level data and to characterize subsurface conditions (Figures 9 &10). Three monitoring wells (MW1 – MW3) had been installed prior to this study. These wells were required as part of the basin permit to monitor thermal impacts of infiltrating water. Three additional monitoring wells (MW4 – MW6) were installed by Midwest Engineering Services (MES) (Waukesha, WI) on March 29, 2006. Four more monitoring wells (MW6 – MW9) were installed by Soils and Engineering Services (Madison, WI) on September 9, 2006. These wells were installed in conjunction with a water quality study conducted at the basin by the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade, and Consumer Protection (WDATCP). A single well (MW10) was installed inside the basin by MES on January 4, 2007.

The wells were installed per NR 141 – Groundwater Monitoring Well Requirements. Monitoring well construction forms (Form 4400-113A) were completed for each well (Appendix A). All wells were installed with hollow stem augers with dimensions of 19.3 cm (7.6 in) outside diameter and 10.8 cm (4.3 in) inside diameter. The 5.1 centimeter (2 inch) diameter polyvinyl chloride (PVC) wells were installed to approximately 4.57 meters (15 feet) beneath the basin floor elevation. The wells were constructed with a 3.05 meter (10 foot) screened section intersecting the water table found at approximately 2.3 meters (7.5 feet) below grade (Figure 11). Monitoring well MW10 was installed to 3.5 meters (11.5 feet) below grade with a 0.91 meter (3 foot) screen. This well was installed for purposes of slug testing, where a completely submerged screen is required. Wells inside the basin were extended above grade to prevent ponded water from entering the well cap. Wells outside the basin were terminated below grade and protected with a flushmount cover. All well tops were capped (vented to atmosphere) and surveyed to the nearest 0.25 centimeter (0.10 inches) with a level. The local topography was surveyed to the

nearest 0.31 centimeter (0.12 inches) with a total station. All elevations were referenced to a local datum.



Figure 9. Monitoring Well Locations.



Figure 10. Infiltration Basin & Monitoring Well Photo.

Soils were characterized during the drilling process by split-spoon sampling in two foot intervals, and by observing drill cuttings. Select samples were analyzed for particle size distribution (Table 1) by the University of Wisconsin Soil and Plant Analysis Lab (Madison, WI) using the hydrometer method (Bouyoucos, 1962). A single sample from monitoring well MW10 was taken to MES (Waukesha, WI), and analyzed for particle size by the ASTM D422 method.

Location	Location	Depth Texture ^{1,2}		Gravel	Sand	Silt	Clay
	Description	(m)		(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
NW 1⁄4	Basin floor	0 – 0.115	Loam	0	47	40	13
SW 1⁄4	Basin floor	0 – 0.115	Silt Loam	0	21	56	23
SE 1⁄4	Basin floor	0 – 0.115	Silt Loam	0	27	52	21
Center	Basin floor	0 – 0.115	Loam	0	29	48	23
Average	Basin floor avg.	0 – 0.115	Loam	0	31	49	20
MW 10	Beneath	1.5	Poorly graded	42.4 coarse	23.6	6	.7
	basin		sand & gravel	27.3 fine			
MW 10	Beneath	4.57	Silty clay	0	43	38	19
	basin		loam				
MW 7	Outside basin	1.0	Silty clay	0	7	62	31
			loam				

Table 1. Textural Properties of Materials Within and Outside Infiltration Basin.

1 - Sample with gravel analyzed with ASTM D422 by Midwest Engineering Service, Waukesha, WI.

2 - Other samples analyzed by hydrometer method (Bouyoucos, 1962) by Soil and Plant Analysis Lab, Madison, WI.

A sedimentation layer, between 0 - 0.115 meters (0 - 4.5 inches) thick, exists at the infiltration basin surface (Figure 11). This layer is likely a clogging layer formed by sedimentation of particulate matter from stormwater entering the basin. Soil from below the sedimentation layer to approximately 4.57 meters (15 feet) below grade is a poorly graded gravel with some sand and little fines. Below 4.57 meters, a much less permeable silty clay loam material exists. Drilling and well installation did not occur beyond this layer, as wells could be constructed at this depth and still straddle the shallow water table per NR 141, and because the silty clay loam was thought to be a confining layer. The boring for monitoring well MW5 was advanced deeper prior to well installation to determine the thickness of this confining layer. The silty clay loam extended to 6.1 meters (20 feet) below grade where the boring was terminated.

Immediately outside the basin, a silty clay loam extends from the surface to approximately 1.37 meters (4.5 feet) below grade before the more permeable sand and gravel layer was encountered. Further outside the basin to the northeast and east, the silty clay loam extends from the ground surface to the termination of the borings at approximately 4.57 meters (15 feet) below grade, as observed in monitoring well MW9.

All wells were developed per NR 141.21, and monitoring well development forms (Form 4400-113B) were completed for each well (Appendix A). Development was performed by surging with a bailer, and then extracting water by either bailing or pumping. A minimum of 10 well volumes of water was removed, or until sediment-free water was produced.

Groundwater beneath the basin was at approximately 2.28 meters (7.5 feet) below grade at the time of the boring installation. Periodic groundwater level measurements were manually recorded to the nearest 0.305 centimeter (0.01 foot) at all well locations with a Solinst Model 101 electronic tape (Ontario, Canada). Regionally, groundwater flows from the northeast to the southwest at a gradient of approximately 0.01 m/m (Figure 12). The gradient was higher outside the basin than underneath the basin, where the groundwater table was almost flat. Little seasonal variation was found in the flow direction. A series of regional groundwater flow maps (Appendix B) show water levels to fluctuate seasonally by approximately 0.60 meters (2.0 feet).



Silty Clay Loam Figure 11. Monitoring Well Construction. Silty Clay Loam



Figure 12. Regional Groundwater Flow Direction.

Groundwater Mounding & Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering August 2007 Estimates of hydraulic conductivity were obtained in both the sand and gravel material and in the surficial silty clay loam outside the basin. A Guelph permeameter was used to obtain field measurements of saturated hydraulic conductivity in the silty clay loam. The permeameter is a constant head device that uses the Mariotte siphon principle to measure the steady-state rate of water recharge into unsaturated soil from a cylindrical well hole 0.06 meters (2.38 in) in diameter and 0.20 meters (8 in) deep. Measurements were made every 15 meters (50 feet) along the eastern and southern edges of the infiltration basin. Saturated hydraulic conductivities range from 8.35×10^{-5} to 2.81×10^{-4} cm/s.

Estimates of saturated hydraulic conductivity in the sand and gravel material were obtained by the Bouwer and Rice slug test method (Schwartz et al., 2003). Slug tests were conducted at monitoring well MW10, located to the southeast of the center of the basin, as this was the only well that was installed with a completely submerged screen necessary for the test. A total of 11 tests were performed on January 9, and April 21, 2007 (Table 2). A single slug test was performed at monitoring well MW1 and MW9 on January 9, 2007, and at monitoring well MW2 on April 21, 2007, as the well screens were submerged at these times.

The slug tests were performed by inserting a solid slug into the well and observing groundwater level change. Groundwater level changes were recorded with a Solinst Levelogger (Ontario, Canada) pressure transducer/datalogger set to record in 0.5 second intervals. In monitoring well MW10, water level returned to background conditions in approximately four seconds. In monitoring wells MW1, MW2, and MW9, water levels returned to background conditions in approximately 10 minutes. Details on the slug test procedure and computations are given in Appendix C.

Hydraulic conductivities in monitoring well MW10, representative of the sand and gravel material, range from 2.14×10^{-2} to 2.87 cm/s, with an average of 3.49×10^{-1} cm/s (Table 2). In the silty clay loam to the northeast of the basin (MW1, MW2, MW9), hydraulic conductivities ranged from 1.78×10^{-3} to 6.99×10^{-4} cm/s.

Well	Date	K (cm/s)
10	1/9/07	4.36 x 10 ⁻¹
10	1/9/07	6.99 x 10 ⁻²
10	1/9/07	2.14 x 10 ⁻²
10	1/9/07	2.87
10	4/21/07	6.82 x 10 ⁻²
10	4/21/07	6.31 x 10 ⁻²
10	4/21/07	6.64 x 10 ⁻²
10	4/21/07	5.62 x 10 ⁻²
10	4/21/07	6.14 x 10 ⁻²
10	4/21/07	7.51 x 10 ⁻²
10	4/21/07	5.60 x 10 ⁻²
1	1/9/07	1.09 x 10 ⁻⁴
2	4/21/07	6.99 x 10 ⁻⁵
9	1/9/07	1.78 x 10 ⁻³

Table 2. Hydraulic Conductivities from Slug Tests.

Monitoring Equipment

A WL400 pressure transducer (Global Water; Gold River, CA) was installed near the bottom of monitoring wells MW3-MW8. A transducer was also installed at the center of the basin at the location of monitoring well MW4 to measure ponding depth. The transducers have an operating range of 0 – 4.57 meters (0-15 feet), with an accuracy of +/- 0.1%. The transducers were installed between 0.91-1.52 meters (3-5 feet) beneath the water table. The Solinst Levelogger (Ontario, Canada) used for the slug tests was installed in monitoring well MW2, and set to record in 10 minute intervals. The depth of the transducers beneath the PVC well top was recorded. This allowed the transducer elevation to be tied in to the local survey datum, as the PVC well top elevations were recorded relative to this local datum. The transducers were connected to a CR10X datalogger (Campbell Scientific; Logan, Utah) set to record water levels every 10 minutes. A TE525-L tipping bucket (Campbell Scientific; Logan, Utah) with 0.0254 millimeters (0.01 inches) per tip was installed to record precipitation.

In addition to the water level measurements, soil moisture was recorded at two locations using 616-L water content reflectometers (Campbell Scientific; Logan, Utah). The reflectometers were installed near monitoring well MW4 at the center of the basin, at depths of 0.91 meters (3 feet) and 1.52 meters (5 feet) below grade. They were installed by placing them in the center of a hollow stem auger and letting the natural formation collapse around them as the augers were removed. The reflectometers could not be calibrated to the site-specific soil prior to installation, and the large amount of gravel and cobble present would have made calibration difficult. Therefore, the reflectometers were only used to determine the timing of the wetting front movement. Soil moisture was recorded every 10 minutes and stored in the datalogger.

Model Background

HYDRUS-2D was used to simulate water movement through the unsaturated zone and groundwater system (Simunek, 2006). The governing equation for water flow through variably saturated porous media that HYDRUS solves is a modified version of Richards equation (Richards, 1931). HYDRUS solves Richards equation using a Galerkin-type linear finite element scheme. The two-dimensional Darcian flow of water in a variably saturated rigid porous medium is given by the following form of the Richards equation (HYDRUS, 2006):

$$\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left[K \left(K_{ij}^{A} \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_j} + K_{iz}^{A} \right) \right] - S$$
(7)

where θ is the volumetric soil water content (L³L⁻³), *h* is the pressure head (L), *S* is a sink term (e.g., root water uptake; T⁻¹), *x_i* are spatial coordinates (L), *K_{ij}^A* and *K_{iz}^A* are components of the dimensionless anisotropy tensor *K*^A, and *K* is the unsaturated hydraulic conductivity function [K(h) = K_sK_r(h)] (L T⁻¹) where K_s is the saturated hydraulic conductivity (L T⁻¹), and K_r is the relative hydraulic conductivity. In this study, *K*^A was assumed to be isotropic, and the sink term was set to zero since the soil in this study had little vegetation. The unsaturated soil hydraulic properties, $\theta(h)$ and *K*(*h*), in Equation 7 are highly nonlinear functions of the pressure head (HYDRUS, 2006). Different analytical models are available to relate water content to pressure head and pressure head to hydraulic conductivity. In this study, the soil water retention curve, $\theta(h)$, was described using a form of the van Genuchten (1980) equation:

$$\theta(h) = \theta_r + \frac{\theta_s - \theta_r}{\left[1 + |\alpha h|^n\right]^m} \quad \text{for } h < 0$$

(8)

24

$$\theta(h) = \theta_s \text{ for } h \ge 0$$

where θ_r is the residual soil moisture content (L³L⁻³), θ_s is the saturated soil moisture content (L³L⁻³), *h* is the pressure head (L), α is the inverse of air-entry pressure (L⁻¹), *n* is the slope of moisture characteristic curve (dimensionless), and *m* equals 1 - 1/n (dimensionless). Equation 8 uses the statistical pore-size distribution model of Mualem (1976) to describe the unsaturated soil hydraulic conductivity function, *K*(*h*):

$$K(h) = K_{s}S_{e}^{l} \left[1 - \left(1 - S_{e}^{1/m} \right)^{m} \right]^{2}$$
(9)

where *I* is the pore connectivity parameter (dimensionless), taken to be 0.5, and S_e is the relative saturation (dimensionless), which is equal to $(\theta - \theta_r) / (\theta_s - \theta_r)$.

HYDRUS is capable of inverse modeling, or estimating model parameters by matching a mathematical model to observed data points. The inverse method is based on minimizing an objective function, which expresses the difference between observed and predicted values. The objective function is minimized using the Levenberg-Marquardt nonlinear minimization method, which is a weighted least-squares approach based on Marquardt's maximum neighborhood method. Confidence intervals can be generated for the optimized parameters, and a correlation matrix of the optimized parameters is produced.

Results and Discussion

Storm Event Information

The hydrology of the watershed is such that approximately 2.54 centimeters (1.0 inch) of rainfall is required over a relatively short time period in order to produce measurable and sustained ponding in the basin. Three storm events (Table 3) caused significant ponding in the basin over the time period of this study. For storms #1 and #2, total ponding time was approximately 18 hours (Figures 13 & 14). The groundwater mound in monitoring well MW4 (basin center) also began to recede in this time period. Due to a prolonged rain event with multiple high intensity periods, storm #3 showed a prolonged ponding duration of approximately 30 hours (Figure 15 & 16).

Table 5. Storin Lvent Data Oseu for W	ouenny.		
	Storm #1	Storm #2	Storm #3
Date	08/24/06	10/04/06	04/03/07
Total Rainfall (cm)	4.93	2.84	4.28
Maximum Ponding Depth (m)	0.410	0.386	0.472
Maximum Groundwater Rise (m)	0.384	0.397	0.616

Table 3.	Storm	Event	Data	Used	for	Modelina.
Tuble C.	0.01111			0004		modoning







Figure 14. Ponding Depth and Water Table Response - 10/04/06 (Storm #2).



Figure 15. Ponding Depth and Water Table Response - 04/03/07 (Storm #3).



Figure 16. Ponding Following 04/03/07 Storm.

Model Design

A 100 meter (328 feet) transect was modeled, starting at the center of the basin and extending outside the basin to the southeast (Figure 17). This transect is roughly perpendicular to the regional groundwater flow direction. This transect was chosen due to the number of monitoring wells in this direction available for comparing heads.

Groundwater head data were used to set model boundary conditions, which define the flow field at the edges of the model (Figure 18). At the infiltration basin floor, a variable head boundary condition was used. The ponding depth, recorded in 10 minute intervals at the basin center, was used for this time-varying boundary. The ponding data was smoothed using a moving average with a 20 minute window that includes three data points. When no ponding was present, the boundary automatically switched to an atmospheric boundary condition, equal to either the precipitation rate, or zero during periods with no precipitation.

A no-flow boundary condition was set at the center of the basin due to assumed symmetry of the mound. The bottom was set to a no-flow boundary condition. The difference in hydraulic conductivity between the sand and gravel and silty clay loam layers was estimated to be more than two orders of magnitude. This estimate was based on slug tests in the sand and gravel, and literature values of hydraulic conductivity based on particle size analysis of the silty clay loam. A no-flow boundary may be assumed when the hydraulic conductivity difference is two orders of magnitude or greater (Anderson, 1992).

Outside the basin, at a distance of 100 meters (328 feet) from the basin center, a constant head boundary was set equal to the background water table elevation before the storm event. This boundary was set far enough outside the basin to minimize any effects the constant head may have on the flow field under the basin. The background water table over the 100 meter transect was assumed to be flat. While no monitoring well exists 100 meters from the basin center, groundwater levels were inferred based on head data in MW3, and on the observation of a flat water table underneath and adjacent to the basin in directions perpendicular to groundwater flow. A no-flow boundary condition was set in the unsaturated zone at the 100 meter boundary outside the basin. A no-flow boundary was used for the surface boundary outside the basin,

rather than entering precipitation data. This was done as initial model results showed that precipitation caused a minimal infiltration depth due to the low conductivity material in this area. Combined with the extra 1.37 meters (4.5 feet) of unsaturated soil in this area, the precipitation did not impact the water table. The precipitation was therefore eliminated to allow for more efficient model operation.



Figure 17. Two Dimensional Transect Modeled with HYDRUS.



Figure 18. Model Boundary and Initial Conditions.

The initial condition for the saturated zone was set based on the water table elevation before the storm event. As previously discussed, the background water table was assumed to be flat along the modeled transect. The initial condition in the unsaturated zone was assumed hydrostatic, or the negative pressure head in the unsaturated zone was set to equal the distance above the water table. The hydrostatic assumption would be valid in a well-drained material with extended time periods between storms, as was the case for the storms modeled for this study.

The finite element mesh in HYDRUS was set to an eight centimeter resolution immediately under the basin to allow for the thin sediment layer to be added. Elsewhere in the model the resolution was set to one meter. This resulted in 3,151 element nodes and 6,300 element meshes. The initial and minimum time steps were 0.6 seconds, and the pressure head tolerance was one cm.

The HYDRUS code is coupled with Rosetta Lite Dynamically Linked Library (Rosetta) to predict hydraulic properties of soil. Rosetta implements pedotransfer functions which predict van Genuchten's water retention parameters and the saturated hydraulic conductivity in a hierarchical manner from soil textural class, particle size distributions, bulk density, and points from a water retention curve. Three different soil types were included in the model: the surficial silty clay loam outside the basin, the loam sedimentation layer on the basin floor, and the sand and gravel material beneath the basin. For the loam and silty clay loam material, particle size analysis data were entered into Rosetta and the parameters predicted by Rosetta were entered into HYDRUS as fixed values. Since the sand and gravel material fell outside the range of materials in the Rosetta database, these parameters were estimated by the inverse solution. Table 4 lists the hydraulic parameters predicted by Rosetta, as well as the initial estimates provided for the sand and gravel material used in the inverse solution.

Material	Θ _r	Θs	α	n	K _{sat}	I
	(-)	(-)	(1/m)	(-)	(cm/sec)	(-)
Silty clay Ioam	0.0885	0.473	0.78	1.52	1.30 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.5
Loam	0.0650	0.416	0.62	1.58	1.85 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.5
Sand & gravel ¹	0.0655	0.231	25.8	3.42	8.08 x 10 ⁻¹	0.5

Table 4. Hydraulic Parameters Used in HYDRUS.

1 – Values given are initial estimates used in the inverse solution

For storms #1 and #2, readings at 10 minute intervals for a period of 24 hours (a total of 144 calibration points) were used for the inverse solution calculations. Twenty-four hours allowed for the full precipitation time, for ponding to completely disappear, and for the groundwater mound to reach the maximum value and begin to recede. For storm #3, a period of 36 hours was used. The groundwater elevation data from MW4 was smoothed using a moving average with the window set to three. The inverse solution was set to run for a maximum of 10 iterations. Pore connectivity (*I*) was held constant at 0.5. No constraints were placed on any other parameters.

Model Calibration

The thickness of the sediment layer at the basin floor was determined using data from storm #1. The thickness was varied until the total flux through the infiltration basin floor matched the observed flux. Observed fluxes were calculated by summing the total ponded depth, the total precipitation before ponding, and an estimate of infiltration during ponding before the maximum ponding depth was reached. This calibration process resulted in a sediment thickness of 10.5 cm (4.13 in).

Once the sediment thickness was set, the hydraulic properties of the sand and gravel material were determined. To do this, the model was calibrated against observed pressure heads from the center monitoring well (MW4). The initial hydraulic parameters for the sand and gravel material (Table 4) used for the inverse solution were first chosen based on literature values. They were then refined by running direct solutions with storm #1 data, until the general shape of the water table response was fitted. The hydraulic parameters for the sand and gravel material were then further refined by the inverse method within HYDRUS.

Using the inverse solution, modeled pressure heads at the center of the basin were in close agreement with measured values for storm #1 (RMSE = 0.021 m; Figure 19), storm #2 (RMSE = 0.016 m; Figure 20), and storm #3 (RMSE = 0.026 m; Figure 21). The magnitude and timing of maximum mound rise was predicted well for all three storms (Table 5), with \leq 1.3% difference between observed and modeled mound heights. Maximum mound heights occurred between 9.5 and 12.0 hours after the initial water table rise. The assumption of a constant head boundary condition 100 meters away from the basin center was shown to not influence mound height; an observation well located approximately two meters from the boundary did not show an increase in head.

The modeled initial water table rise was between 20 - 40 minutes later than observed for all three storms. This discrepancy may be attributed to preferential flowpaths in the field, either natural or created during well installation.



Figure 19. Observed & Modeled (Inverse Solution) Pressure Heads at Basin Center - Storm #1.



Figure 20. Observed & Modeled (Inverse Solution) Pressure Heads at Basin Center - Storm #2.



Figure 21. Observed & Modeled (Inverse Solution) Pressure Heads at Basin Center - Storm #3.

The modeled total water flux (infiltration depth) through the infiltration basin floor matched well with the observed flux for storm #1 (Table 5). The sediment thickness was calibrated using storm #1 data prior to running the inverse solution, so total fluxes from the inverse solution were expected to produce a close fit. With the calibrated sediment thickness of 10.5 cm (4.13 in), the maximum modeled infiltration rate for storm #1 was 4.19 cm/hr, and then decreased over a period of 18 hours as the ponding depth decreased. The modeled total flux through the infiltration basin floor was 11 and 26% higher than observed for storms #2 and #3, respectively. These discrepancies might be explained in part by error in estimating the actual fluxes occurring in the field. The duration between the first recorded ponding and maximum ponding was four and 11.5 times longer for storms #2 and #3, respectively, compared to storm #1. Ponding for storm #3 also lasted for approximately 10 hours longer than for storm #1 and had two peak ponding depths with a recession between. These conditions present more opportunity for error in estimating total flux into the system.

	Storm #1		Storm #2			Storm #3				
		08/24/06			10/04/06			04/03/07		
	Obs	Model	% Diff	Obs	Model	% Diff	Obs	Model	% Diff	
Initial Groundwater Rise (min)	190	220	15.7	340	380	11.7	210	230	9.5	
Max. Groundwater Rise (min)	810	800	-1.2	910	900	-1.1	910	910 - 1030	0.0 – 13.2	
Max. Mound Height (m)	0.377	0.380	0.8	0.392	0.388	-1.0	0.605	0.597	-1.3	
Total Infiltration Depth (m ³ /m ²)	0.450	0.443	-1.6	0.484	0.538	11.1	0.710	0.897	26.3	
Final Mass Balance Error (%)	-	0.13	-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.34	-	-	0.046	-	

Table 5. Water Table Response, Infiltration Volume, and Model Mass Balance Error.

Model Validation

The hydraulic parameters of the sand and gravel material fitted by the inverse solution are within the ranges reported in literature (Table 6). To validate model performance, the fitted hydraulic parameters for storm #1 were used to predict mound characteristics for storm #2, and
visa versa. The modeled pressure heads were in close agreement with measured values for storm #1 (RMSE = 0.031 m; Figure 22) and storm #2 (RMSE = 0.026 m; Figure 23). The timing and magnitude of mound rise matched reasonably well with observed values (Table 7).

	Θr	Θs	α	n	Ks
	(v/v)	(v/v)	(1/m)	(unitless)	(cm/sec)
Literature ^{1,2}	0.01 - 0.10	0.2 - 0.4	4 - 40	1 - 10	1.0 x 10 ⁻³ - 3.3
Initial	0.066	0.232	25.8	3.42	0.81
#1: 08/24/06	0.011	0.243	20.2	5.71	1.13
#2: 10/04/06	0.057	0.277	10.9	7.36	1.35
#3: 04/03/07	0.089	0.286	23.2	5.30	0.82

Table 6. Fitted Hydraulic Parameters (with Inverse Solution) for Storms 1-3.

1 - van Genuchten Parameters from Rosetta Lite DDL Database.

2 - Hydraulic Conductivity Values from Fundamentals of Groundwater (Schwartz & Zhang, 2003).



Figure 22. Water Table for Storm #1 Modeled Using Storm #2 Hydraulic Properties.



Figure 23. Water Table for Storm #2 Modeled Using Storm #1 Hydraulic Properties.

	S	torm #1	w/	Storm #2 w/			
	Storm	#2 Para	meters	Storm	Storm #1 Parameters		
	Obs	Model	% Diff	Obs	Model	% Diff	
Initial Groundwater Rise (min)	190	210	10.5	340	410	20.5	
Max. Groundwater Rise (min)	810	730	-9.8	910	970	6.6	
Max. Mound Height (m)	0.377	0.389	3.2	0.392	0.391	-0.3	
Total Infiltration Depth (m ³ /m ²)	0.450	0.479	6.4	0.472	0.472	0.0	
Final Mass Balance Error (%)	-	0.23	-	-	0.24	-	

 Table 7. Water Table Response, Infiltration Volume, and Model Mass Balance Error

 for Storm #1 & #2 with Hydraulic Parameters Interchanged.

The hydraulic parameters of the sand and gravel material fitted by the inverse solution for storm #3 did not produce a good fit when used to model storms #1 and #2. The maximum predicted mound heights for storms #1 and #2 were approximately 20% higher when the hydraulic parameters from storm #3 were used. The hydraulic conductivity for storm #3 is lower than for the other storms, which would lead to higher mound heights. In an effort to obtain a better fit, an inverse solution was run for storm #3 with the hydraulic conductivity held constant at the fitted value for storm #1 (1.13 cm/sec). The resulting fitted hydraulic parameters for storm #3 again over-predicted mound height when used in storm #1. Differences in field conditions between storm #3 and the first two storms include the background water table being 0.64 m and 0.55 m higher than for storms #1 and #2, respectively, and the soil moisture being slightly higher. Both conditions reduce vadose zone effects on mound height by minimizing travel time and storage capacity, which lead to a higher groundwater mound. However, the higher initial saturated thickness during this storm would serve to reduce groundwater mounding.

The modeled and observed heads begin to diverge following the initial mound recession (Figures 19 – 21). The model predicts the mound to recede faster than the observed heads. This is likely caused by regional aquifer effects, and not a condition of mound hydraulics under the basin. Geology in the region surrounding the basin varies quite widely, with areas of silty clay loam present in addition to the sand and gravel observed under the basin (Clayton, 2001; NRCS, 2007). The finer grained material was evident as close as monitoring wells MW2 and MW9, where silty clay loam extended from the surface to 4.57 meters (15 feet) below grade. If this material also existed downgradient of the basin, it would restrict drainage of the groundwater mound, causing the water table to remain elevated for a longer period of time.

Sensitivity Analysis

The fitted hydraulic parameters, head, and precipitation data for storm #1 were used to perform a sensitivity analysis. Of the hydraulic properties estimated for the sand and gravel material, mound height was most influenced by hydraulic conductivity; mound heights decreased as hydraulic conductivity increased (Figure 24). Mound heights increased rapidly below a hydraulic conductivity of approximately 1.5 cm/s.

The predicted hydraulic conductivity of the sand and gravel material is approximately one order of magnitude greater than the average values determined by slug tests. It is possible that the

saturated hydraulic conductivity in the vadose zone is higher than the saturated hydraulic conductivity in the saturated zone due to fines being washed from the vadose zone during infiltration events. The differences between observed and modeled hydraulic conductivity are also within the two orders of magnitude variation for a given soil type reported by Freeze and Cherry (1979). Increasing anisotropy (the ratio of horizontal to vertical hydraulic conductivity) decreased mound height (Figure 25), particularly for anisotropy less than 10. Increasing horizontal hydraulic conductivity beyond this ratio had little effect; mound height decreased from 0.072 m to 0.013 m as anisotropy increased from 10 to 100.

After hydraulic conductivity, mound height was most sensitive to saturated thickness. Mound height decreased as the initial saturated thickness increased (Figure 26). A thicker aquifer provides for a larger flow area available to transport water away from under the basin. Increasing the unsaturated zone thickness had less of an impact on mound height (Figure 27). As the unsaturated zone thickness increased, the larger storage capacity reduced the mound height, and also delayed mound formation. The relatively small difference in mound height with change in thickness is likely a result of the high conductivity of the sand and gravel material.



Figure 24. Effects of Hydraulic Conductivity on Mound Height - Storm #1.



Figure 25. Effects of Anisotropy on Mound Height - Storm #1.



Figure 26. Effects of Initial Saturated Thickness on Mound Height - Storm #1.



Figure 27. Effects of Unsaturated Thickness on Mound Height - Storm #1.

The initial conditions (matric potential) of the unsaturated zone had little effect on mound height (Figure 28). This is likely due to the very flat soil-moisture curve of the largely gravel and cobble material (Figure 29). Finally, the thickness of the sediment layer on the infiltration basin floor had a significant effect on the volume of water infiltrated and on the groundwater response. Reducing the sediment layer by 50% (10.5 cm to 5.25 cm) caused the water table to rise to the bottom of the basin floor, increasing from a mound height of 0.38 m to 2.4 m.



Figure 28. Effects of Matric Potential on Mound Height.





Model Application

Once calibrated, the model was used to determine the effects of different basin designs, aquifer characterisitcs, and basin loading conditions on mound height (Figure 30). Guidelines for this evaluation were taken from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Standards 1002 (Site Evaluation for Stormwater Infiltration) and 1003 (Infiltration Basin Standard), and in consultation with Mr. Roger Bannerman, WDNR Water Resources Management Specialist (personal communication with Mr. Roger Bannerman, 2007).

Two infiltration basin sizes were modeled. A 45.7 m (150 ft) by 45.7 m basin was chosen as a typical infiltration basin size. A 9.15 m (30 ft) by 9.15 m basin was chosen as a typical rain garden size. Three ponding depths typical of infiltration devices were used: 0.61 m (24 in), 0.305 m (12 in), and 0.15 m (6 in). The 0.61 m (24 in) depth is maximum ponding depth allowed in WDNR Standard 1003. Ponding was modeled with a constant head boundary using the average ponding depth. For example, a ponding depth of 0.305 m was used when the design depth of 0.61 m of ponding was being simulated. Ponding was applied for a duration such that the total flux into the system equaled the design ponding depth. For the example of simulating a ponding depth of 0.61 m, ponding was stopped once the total flux through the basin floor reached 0.61 m³/m².

Two different soil materials, a sandy loam and a loamy sand, were used in the model. These materials are commonly used in the construction of infiltration devices. Infiltration rates given for these soils in WDNR standard 1002 were applied to the model; 1.27 cm/hr (0.5 in/hr) for sandy loam and 4.14 cm/hr (1.63 in/hr) for loamy sand. Saturated and unsaturated zone thicknesses were of 1.52 m (5 ft), 3.05 m (10 ft), and 6.09 m (20 ft) were used for both zones. Finally, two surface sedimentation layer thicknesses (0.0 cm and 7.62 cm (3 in)) were used to simulate the changes in infiltration rates that will likely occur over the life of a basin.



Figure 30. Model Application Parameter Combinations.

Model results from all scenarios in the flowchart in Figure 30 are summarized in Tables 8 and 9. Select results are found in Figures 31 - 36. Unlike the Wood Creek Basin site, these hypothetical model applications with loamy sand and sandy loam were more sensitive to unsaturated than saturated thickness (Figures 31 & 32). These materials have a higher specific yield and lower infiltration rate than the material at the Wood Creek site. These factors serve to attenuate the infiltrating stormwater front. This slower release of water from the unsaturated zone over a longer time period decreases mound height.

Mound height was affected by both basin size and ponding depth. Mound heights increased as both basin size and ponding depth increased (Figure 33). Increasing basin size by a factor of five (9.15 m to 45.7 m) increased mound heights by a factor of 2.6, 3.5, and 2.6 for ponding depths of 0.15 m, 0.305 m, and 0.61 m respectively.



Figure 31. Model Application - Effects of Unsaturated Thickness on Mound Height.



Saturated Thickness (m)





Figure 33. Model Application - Effects of Ponding Depth on Mound Height.

Mound heights were largely unaffected by a 7.62 cm (3 in) sediment layer applied to the basin floor (Figure 34). This is in stark contrast to the Wood Creek basin, where a small change in sediment thickness significantly affected mound heights. This discrepancy is likely due to the differences in saturated hydraulic conductivity used in the sediment layer and underlying soil for the different scenarios. While the same sediment material (loam) was used for all models (0.5 cm/hr), the underlying soil at the Wood Creek site had a much higher saturated hydraulic conductivity (360 cm/hr) compared to the loamy sand (4.1 cm/hr).

The sediment layer did, however, affect the timing to maximum mound height. For the site conditions corresponding to Figure 34, the maximum mound occurred 600 hours after ponding was initiated without the sediment layer, compared to 678 hours with the sediment layer. Figure 34 also shows that the differences in mound height with and without a sediment layer increase

as ponding depth decreases. The effects of the lower conductivity sediment layer are more apparent as the gradient across the layer (driven by ponding depth) decreases.



Figure 34. Model Application - Effects of Sediment Thickness on Mound Height.

The effects of anisotropy and the initial conditions were also evaluated for the scenario with a 45.7 m (150 ft) basin with loamy sand and 0.305 m (12 in) of ponding with no sediment. As seen with the Wood Creek basin, mound height decreases as anisotropy increases (Figure 35). The effects of anisotropy again are more apparent with a horizontal to vertical hydraulic conductivity ratio of 10:1 and below.

The initial soil moisture conditions of the loamy sand had an impact on mound height (Figure 36). Mound heights decreased with an increase in surface pressure head, or matric potential. Increases in matric potential correspond to decreases in soil moisture content. At low initial water contents the soil has a greater capacity to store infiltrating water. As previously discussed, attenuating the wetting front decreases mound height.



Figure 35. Model Application - Effects of Anisotropy on Mound Height.



Figure 36. Model Application - Effects of Matric Potential on Mound Height.

		Max. I	viouna Heiç	jnt (m)
Loamy Sand		Por	iding Depth	(m)
Loung ound		0 6097	0.3048	0.1524
Baein Size: 45 7 m	m x 45.7 m	0.0007	0.0040	0.1024
Dasin Size: 45.7 I	II X 45.7 III			
Seuline	Sat Thickness: 6.00 m			
	Jacat Thickness: 6.09 m	0 375	0	0
	Unsat Thickness: 0.09 m	1.075	0 303	0 028
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.03 m	1.075	0.303	0.020
	Cat Thickness: 2.05 m	1.00 (1)	0.75	0.210
	Sat. Thickness. 5.05 m	0.500	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 0.09 m	0.509	0 405	0 070
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.28	0.405	0.079
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (f)	0.797	0.25
	Sat. Thickness: 1.52 m	0.000		
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0.622	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.35	0.446	0.113
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (f)	0.862	0.291
Sedime	ent: 7.62 cm			
	Sat. Thickness: 6.09 m			
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0.379	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.1	0.282	0.029
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.80 (f)	0.702	0.213
	Sat. Thickness: 3.05 m			
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0.476	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.28	0.364	0.01
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (f)	0.792	0.26
	Sat. Thickness: 1.52 m			
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0.601	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.37	0.425	0.062
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (f)	0.852	0.303
Basin Size: 9.15 n	n x 9.15 m			
Sedime	ent: 0 cm			
	Sat. Thickness: 6.09 m			
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0.072	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.334	0.071	0.002
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.03	0.276	0.068
	Sat. Thickness: 3.05 m			
	Unsat, Thickness: 6.09 m	0.098	0	0
	Unsat, Thickness: 3.05 m	0.487	0.117	0.01
	Unsat Thickness: 1.52 m	1.44 (f)	0.391	0.097
	Sat Thickness: 1.52 m			
	Unsat Thickness: 6.09 m	0.156	0	0
	Unsat Thickness: 3.05 m	0.603	0 149	0.008
	Unsat Thickness 1.52 m	1.55 (f)	0.492	0.13
Sedime	ant: 7.62 cm	1.00 (1)	0.102	0.10
Oculine	Sat Thickness: 6.09 m			
	Unsat Thickness: 6.09 m	0.075	0	0
	Unsat Thickness: 3.05 m	0.336	0.07	0 002
	Unsat Thickness: 1.52 m	0.976	0.07	0.002
	Sat Thickness: 3.05 m	0.370	0.21	0.00
	Lineat Thickness: 6.00 m	0.10	0	0
	Unsat Thickness 0.09 m	0.10	0 1 1 1	0 003
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.518	0.111	0.003
	Set Thickness: 1.52 m	1.37	0.395	0.091
	Sat. Inickness: 1.52 m	0.404	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0.161	0	0
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.63	0.144	0.022
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.63 (†)	0.497	0.13
Notes:				

Table 8. Model Application Results for Loamy Sand.

(f) = entire vadose zone flooded

+ = simulation ended w/ max not reached

Groundwater Mounding & Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering August 2007

		Max. Mound Height (m)			
Sandy Loam		Pon 0.6097	0.3048	(m) 0.1524	
Basin Size: 45.7	′ m x 45.7 m				
Sedin	nent: 0 cm				
	Sat. Thickness: 6.09 m				
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.32	0.29	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.81 (f)	1.00	0.34	
	Sat. Thickness: 3.05 m			-	
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.51 +	0.36+	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.82 (f)	1.04	0.39	
	Sat. I nickness: 1.52 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Inickness: 6.09 m	1.62	0.41	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.03	1.09	0 42	
Cadi	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (1)	1.08	0.43	
Sealn	Sat Thickness: 6.09 m				
	Unest Thickness 6.00 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat Thickness 3.05 m	1.37	0.31+	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.81 (f)	1.00	0.32	
	Sat. Thickness: 3.05 m			5.52	
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.49	0.41+	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (f)	1.05	0.37	
	Sat. Thickness: 1.52 m				
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	1.60	0.48+	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.83 (f)	1.09	0.41+	
Basin Size: 9.15	5 m x 9.15 m				
Sedin	nent: 0 cm				
	Sat. Thickness: 6.09 m	-			
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.36	0.062+	0 004	
	Unsat. I nickness: 1.52 m	1.01	0.38	0.094	
	Odt. THICKHESS. 3.00 M	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 2.05 m	0.52	0 12+	0	
	Unsat Thickness 1.52 m	1 42 (f)	0.53	0.13	
	Sat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.42 (1)	0.00	0.10	
	Unsat, Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat, Thickness: 3.05 m	0.67	0.16+	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.65 (f)	0.68	0.20	
Sedin	nent: 7.62 cm	(.)			
	Sat. Thickness: 6.09 m				
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.37	0.069+	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.0	0.41	0.10	
	Sat. Thickness: 3.05 m				
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.56	0.12	0.01	
	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.38	0.56	0.14	
	Sat. Thickness: 1.52 m				
	Unsat. Thickness: 6.09 m	0	0	0	
	Unsat. Thickness: 3.05 m	0.73	0.15+	0	
Notes	Unsat. Thickness: 1.52 m	1.63 (†)	0.74	0.19	
NOLES	<u>.</u>				

Table 9. Model Application Results for Sandy Loam.

(f) = entire vadose zone flooded

+ = simulation ended w/ max not reached

Tracer Study

Tracer experiments are generally conducted to estimate the degree of hydraulic connection between various locations, to estimate physical transport parameters used in describing solute migration, to determine a solute-matrix interaction parameter, or to calibrate and validate a flow or transport model (Seaman, et al., 2007). Tracers can be used to determine the effects of groundwater mounding on contaminant transport. A tracer applied to a groundwater mound would be expected to move away from the basin at a faster rate than without a mound, due to the increased gradient caused by the mound. Derby (2001) showed that a surface applied potassium chloride tracer moved more rapidly to shallow groundwater under depression areas after infiltration of spring snowmelt and during rainfall events.

A conservative, or non-sorbing tracer is transported advectively in the flow field and spreads by hydrodynamic dispersion, which is a combination of molecular diffusion and mechanical dispersion resulting from differences in pore water velocity and flow path (Seaman et al., 2007). Hydrodynamic dispersion (D), is given by: $D = \alpha_L v + D^*$, where α_L is the longitudinal dispersivity (L); v is the seepage velocity (LT^{-1}); and D^* is the molecular diffusion coefficient (L^2T^{-1}). Since the seepage velocity is proportional to the hydraulic gradient, the gradient directly impacts the hydrodynamic dispersion term in the solute transport equation. A non-conservative, or sorbing tracer moves slower than the conservative tracer, producing a lower breakthrough concentration due to tracer mass being lost in the soil matrix.

One of the initial project objectives was to conduct a tracer study at the selected study infiltration basin. However, due to a combination of uncertainty whether a tracer study would be applicable to site conditions, timing issues with regard to basin selection and monitoring well installation, and relatively few storms that would allow the study to be conducted, a tracer study was not performed at the Wood Creek basin. Once the Wood Creek site was found, a general understanding of basin hydraulics was first gained by observing a few storms. The relatively low mound heights observed and flat gradient under the basin observed during these storm events caused uncertainty as to whether a tracer study would produce meaningful results. A relatively dry spring and early summer of 2007 provided very limited opportunities to conduct the study.

We are currently conducting work that will serve as an alternative to a field tracer study. A literature review is being conducted of case studies involving tracer applications at sites with relatively flat groundwater gradients and with sand and gravel material. Once an appropriate case study is selected, we will model the conditions with a groundwater flow and contaminant fate and transport model (*e.g.*, MT3D). The model will be calibrated using tracer breakthrough data at observation points downgradient of the tracer application. Once calibrated, a groundwater mound will be created by adding focused recharge to the area of tracer injection. The breakthrough curves (time vs. concentration) will be compared to determine the transport effects caused by the mound. The results from this analysis will also assist with evaluating whether enough of a response is expected at the Wood Creek site to warrant a field tracer study. This study is in progress, and results will be reported in an addendum to this report.

Conclusions and Recommendations

The goal of this study was to understand groundwater mounding and the potential for contaminant transport resulting from recharge beneath stormwater infiltration basins. A study was conducted on a 0.10 hectare (0.25 acre) infiltration basin serving a 9.4 hectare (23.2 acre) residential subdivision in Oconomowoc, Wisconsin. Subsurface conditions included sand and gravel material and a groundwater table at 2.3 meters (7.5 ft) below grade. Three storm events

between August 2006 and April 2007 produced mounding and were modeled. Precipitation depths were 4.93, 2.84, and 4.28 cm. The storms produced ponding depths of 0.386 m - 0.472 m (15 in - 18.5 in), causing a maximum water table rise under the basin center of 0.384 m - 0.616 m (15 in - 24 in).

The storms were modeled using the two-dimensional, finite element, variably saturated flow and contaminant transport model HYDRUS. HYDRUS was selected because 1) it was designed specifically for infiltration and recharge simulation in the variably saturated flow regime, 2) it contains an extensive database of unsaturated soil hydraulic parameters, and 3) it utilized a robust parameter estimation technique for inverse estimation of soil hydraulic parameters.

Inverse modeling was performed with HYDRUS to estimate soil and aquifer parameters of the sand and gravel material. Predicted pressure heads at the center of the infiltration basin were in close agreement with measured values for the period encompassing basin ponding and until initial mound recession (RMSE: 0.016 m - 0.026 m). Hydraulic parameters of aquifer material predicted using the inverse solution were within ranges reported in the literature. The magnitude and timing of maximum mound rise was predicted well for all storms. Differences in modeled and observed mound heights were $\leq 1.3\%$ for all storms. Maximum mound heights occurred 9.5 - 12 hours after the initial water table rise. The modeled initial water table rise was between 20 - 40 minutes later than observed in the field for all three storms. This discrepancy was attributed to preferential flowpaths in the field, either natural or created during well installation. HYDRUS predicted a faster mound recession than observed in the field. This was attributed to fine-grained material outside the basin reducing drainage away from underneath the basin.

Model performance was validated by using fitted hydraulic parameters from storm #1 to predict mound formation in storm #2. Close agreement between modeled and measured values was observed (RMSE: 0.026 m - 0.031 m). Fitted parameters from the inverse solution for storm #3 did not produce a good fit when used to model storms #1 and #2. The maximum predicted mound heights for storms #1 and #2 were approximately 20% higher when the hydraulic parameters from storm #3 were used. This discrepancy is attributed to a higher initial water table and soil moisture content for storm #3 (Spring 2007) compared with the other two storms (Summer & Fall 2006).

A sensitivity analysis of system parameters showed that mound height was most influenced by hydraulic conductivity. Mound heights increased as hydraulic conductivity decreased; mound heights increased rapidly below a hydraulic conductivity of approximately 1.5 cm/s. Increasing anisotropy decreased mound height, particularly for anisotropy less than 10. To a lesser extent, mound height was sensitive to saturated thickness; mound height decreased as the initial saturated thickness increased. Increasing the unsaturated zone thickness had less of an impact on mound height; mound height were not sensitive to the initial soil moisture content (matric potential) of the sand and gravel material. The thickness of the sediment layer on the infiltration basin floor had a significant effect on the volume of water infiltrated and on the groundwater response. Reducing the sediment layer by 50% (10.5 cm to 5.25 cm) caused the water table to rise to the bottom of the basin floor, increasing the mound height from 0.38 m to 2.4 m.

The calibrated model was then used to evaluate hypothetical basin operation scenarios with parameters found in WDNR post-construction stormwater standards 1002 and 1003. Various basin sizes, ponding depths, soil types, and aquifer dimensions were investigated. The groundwater mound intersected the basin floor in most scenarios with loamy sand and sandy loam soils, combined with an unsaturated thickness of 1.52 meters (5 ft), and a ponding depth

of 0.61 meters (2 ft). No groundwater table response was observed with ponding depths of \leq 0.305 meters (12 in) with an unsaturated zone thickness of 6.09 meters (20 ft). The mound height was most sensitive to hydraulic conductivity and anisotropy (\leq 10), followed by unsaturated zone thickness. A 7.62 cm (3 in) sediment layer delayed the time to reach maximum mound height, but had a minimal effect on the magnitude of the mound. Mound heights increased with an increase in infiltration basin size. Mound heights were more sensitive to matric potential than for the study site; mound heights increased as matric potential decreased.

Recommendations for future work include applying a three-dimensional model to the study site and collecting water table response data from a site with more fine-grained material beneath the infiltration basin for additional model calibration and validation. Field application of appropriate tracers will allow assessment of the effect of mound formation on contaminant transport.

References

- Anderson, M. P, and Woessner, W.W. 1992. Applied Groundwater Modeling: Simulation of Flow and Advective Transport, Academic Press, Inc.
- Anderson, M.P., and Wang, H.F. 1982. *Introduction to Groundwater Modeling*. Academic Press, Inc.
- Bannerman, R., email correspondence, July 12, 2007.
- Bouyoucos, G. J. 1962. Hydrometer method improved for making particle size analysis of soils. *Agronomy Journal*. 54:464-465.
- Bouwer, H. 1962. Analyzing groundwater mounds by resistance network. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Div.*, ASCE, 88(3):15-36.
- Bouwer, H. 1990. Effect of water depth and groundwater table on infiltration from recharge basins. *Proc., 1990 National Conference of Irrigation and Drainage Division*, S.C. Harris, ed., ASCE, New York, 377-384.
- Bouwer, H., Back, J.T., and Oliver, J.M. 1999. Predicting Infiltration and Groundwater Mounds for Artificial Recharge. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*. October 1999.
- Clayton, L. 2001. Pleistocene Geology of Waukesha County, Wisconsin. Wisconsin Geological and Natural History Survey Bulletin 99. Madison, WI
- DCRPC. 1999. Dane County Groundwater Protection Plan. Dane County, WI.
- Derby, N.E., and R.E. Knighton. 2001. Vadose zone processes and chemical transport. *Journal of Environmental Quality*. 30:194-199.
- Diersch, H.J.G. 2005. *FEFLOW Reference Manual*. Institute for Water Resources Planning and Systems Research, Berlin, Germany.
- Ferguson, B. K. 1990. Role of the long-term water balance in management of storm water infiltration. *Journal of Environmental Management*. 30(3): 221-233.
- Finnemore, E.J., N. N. and Hantzsche. 1983. Groundwater Mounding Due to On-Site Sewage Disposal. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, American Society of Civil Engineers, 109(2): 199-210.
- Finnemore, E.J. 1993. Estimation of Groundwater Mounding Beneath Septic Drain Fields, *Groundwater*, 31(6): 884-889.

- Finnemore, E.J. 1995. A program to calculate groundwater mound heights. *Groundwater*. 33(1):139-143).
- Freeze, R. A., and J. A. Cherry. 1979. Groundwater. Prentice Hall.
- Ferguson, B.K. 1990. Role of the long-term water balance in management of storm water infiltration. *Journal of Environmental Management*. 30:221-233.
- Guo, J.C.Y. 1998. Surface-subsurface model for trench infiltration basins. *Journal of Water Resources and Management*, ASCE, 124(5):280-284.
- Guo, J. C. Y. 2001. Design of Circular Infiltration Basin Under Mounding Effects. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management, 127(1): 58-65.
- Hantush, MS. 1967. Growth and decay of ground water mounds in response to uniform percolation. *Water Resources Research* 3: 227-234.
- Harbaugh, A.W., Banta, R.E., Hill, M.C., and McDonald, M.G. 2000. *MODFLOW-2000. The U.S. Geological Survey Modular Groundwater Model – User Guide to Modularization Concepts and the Groundwater Flow Process.* U.S. Geological Survey, Open File Report 00-92.
- Healy, R.W., Cook, P.G. 2002. Using groundwater levels to estimate recharge. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 10:91-109.
- Hillel, D. 2004. Introduction to Environmental Soil Physics. San Diego, CA: Elsevier Science.
- HYDRUS. 2006. HYDRUS Technical Manual. Ver. 1.0. Prague, Czech Republic.: PC Progress.
- Khan, M.Y, Kirkham, D, and Handy, R.L. 1976. Shapes of Steady State Perched Groundwater Mounds. *Water Resources Research*, 12(3):429-436.
- Lappala, E.G., Healy, R.W., and Weeks, E.P. 1987. *Dcoumentation of computer program VS2D* to solve the equations of fluid in variably saturated porous media: U.S. Geological Survey Water Resources Investigations Report 83-4099.
- Morel-Seytoux, H.J, Miracapillo, C., and Abdulrazzak, M.J. 1990. A reductionist physical approach to unsaturated aquifer recharge from a circular spreading basin. *Water Resources Research*, 26, 771-777.
- Morel-Seytoux, H.J. 2000. Effects of Unsaturated Zone on Groundwater Mounding. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering, October, 2000.
- Mualem, Y. 1976. A new model for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated porous media. *Water Resources Research*, 12(3): 513-522.
- NDWRCDP. 2005. Guidance for Evaluation of Potential Groundwater Mounding Associated with Cluster and High-Density Wastewater Soil Absorption Systems. NDWRCDP Project Number WU-HT-02-45. Golden, CO.: Colorado School of Mines.
- Parmley, R.O. 2001. Hydraulics Field Manual, 3-27–3-28. 2nd Edition, McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Pettyjohn, W.A. 1968. Design and construction of a dual recharge system at Minot, North Dakota. *Groundwater*, 6(4):4-8.

- Pruess, K., Oldenburg, C., and Moridis, G. 1999. *TOUGH2 User's Guide, Version 2.0*. LBNL-43134. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA.
- Rai, S.N., Ramana, D.V., Thiagarajan, S., and Manglik, A. 2001. Modelling of groundwater mound formation resulting from transient recharge.
- Rao, N.H., and Sarma, P.B.S. 1981. Recharge from rectangular areas to finite aquifers. *Journal of Hydrology*. 53(269-275).
- Rastogi, A.K., and Pandey, S.N. 1998. Modeling of artificial recharge basins of different shapes and effect on underlying aquifer system.
- Richards, L. A. 1931. Capillary conduction of liquids through porous medium. *Physics*, 1: 313-318.
- Seaman, J.C., Bertsch, P.M., Wilson, M., Singer, J., Majs, F., and Aburime, S.A. 2007. Tracer Migration in a Radially Divergent Flow Field: Longitudinal Dispersivity and Anionic Tracer Retardation. Vadose Zone Journal 6(2):373-386.
- Sumner, D.M., and Bradner, L.A. 1996. Hydraulic characteristics and nutrient transport and transformation beneath a rapid infiltration basin. USGS Water Resources Investigation Report No. 95-4281, Reedy Creek Improvement District, Orange County, Fla, U.S. Geological Survey, Tallahassee, Fla.
- Sumner, D.M., D.E. Rolston, and M.A. Marino. 1999. Effects of unsaturated zone on groundwater mounding. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering* 4(1): 65-69.
- Schwartz, F.W, and H. Zhang. 2003. Fundamentals of Groundwater. John Wiley and Sons.
- Simunek, J. 2006. Modeling Water Flow and Contaminant Transport in Soils and Groundwater Using the HYDRUS Computer Software Packages. International Groundwater Modeling Center, Colorado School of Mines, Golden, CO.
- Swamee, P.K, and Ojha, C.S.P. 1997. Groundwater Mound Equation for Rectangular Recharge Area. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage*. May/June 1997:215-217.
- USDA. 2007. Soil Survey of Milwaukee and Waukesha Counties, Wisconsin. Web Soil Survey. Washington, D.C USDA National Resource Conservation Service. Available at: www.websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/. Accessed 05 May 2007.
- USEPA. 1999. Preliminary Data Summary of Urban Storm Water BMPs, EPA-821-R-99-012.
- van Genuchten, M. Th. 1980. A closed-form equation for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated soils. SSSA Journal. 44(5): 892-898.
- Voss, C.I., and Provost, A.M. 2002. SUTRA, a model for saturated-unsaturated variably-density groundwater flow with solute or energy transport. U.S. Geological Survey Water Resources Investigations Report 02-4231.
- WDOT. 2000. WDOT-Skokomish Site near Potlatch Volume 2. Groundwater Mounding Analysis, Publication No. 00-03-052.
- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 2004a. Chapter NR 151 Runoff Management.
- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 2004b. Infiltration Basin Standard 1003.
- Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 2004c. Site Evaluation for Stormwater Infiltration Standard 1002.

- Yeh, G.T., Sharp-Hansen, S., Lester, B., Strobl, R., and Scarbrough, J. 1992. 3DFEMWATER/3DLEWASATE: Numerical Codes for Delineating Wellhead Protection Areas In Agricultural Regions. The Pennsylvania University, University Park, PA.
- Zomorodi, K. 2005. Simplified solutions for groundwater mounding under stormwater infiltration facilities. AWRA 2005 Annual Water Resources Conference, Seattle, WA.

Appendix A

WDNR Forms

GROUNDWATER MONITORING INVENTORY FORM Form 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

Inveniory Completed By (Last Name, Farst, MD) NIMMER, MILE A Facility block (NEW RACA)	Date <u>0</u> <u>8</u> 12 <u>9</u> 1 <u>2</u> <u>0</u> <u>6</u> <u>7</u> <u>m</u> <u>m</u> <u>0</u> <u>8</u> <u>7</u> <u>7</u>		
Facility bloop BEAU RACAL			150 - 10 - 20 - 12 - 12
Facility blood Prease RACAN		Facility ID #	
Nome IVOUV COOL DIVING	۵ ۱ سال ۱۹۹۵ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲۰۰۰ ۲	Local Well ID	MWA
		High Cap Well #	
Primary Contact Name (Last, Piros, MI)		Owner	D Drille:
Telephone Number			
(202) 542-3722	and the second	Consultant	Sampler
13233 12000 Recently PREFLAY		🖾 Manager	D Other
City Markena 18	State Zip Code N/ 53/68	Contractor	
Other Contact Name (Last, First, MI)			
	•	Owner	Driller
Telephone Number		D Operator	
()			
Mailing Address	*	D Manager	D Other
City	State Zip Code	Contractor	
Wall Location		(X) 1/4 1/4 Sec.	
Town City Village Fire # (If avail.) Con	inty	Lo	ation
OCONTRACISC	Waivesthy		N
Grid or Street Address or Road (If avail.)			
CONTY HWY Z	VC 101 #	222 A.	
PCONDADINO C WIL	F 174 of SN 174 of Section 27		E
Subdivision Name Lot Block			
Linea Dente	8 N ; R 17 ME DW		
Construction Type OR	Deg. Man. Sec.		S
Drilled Dug La	utude		Mile —
Driven Point Dohn Other	INum	ber of Wells on Prot	wriv
	Flevation ft. MSL	out of mous on ring	10
Construction Date	Well Lise	and a second state of the	1. NH MAY
0317917005	Private Potable	Community	/-Municipal
	Priv. Non-Potable	Community	/ OTM
Constructor	Monitoring Well	Non Transi	ent Non-Com.
MIDWEST GUINTERING SERVICES		I Transient	All Status
Source of Well Data	C Other*	5	Active lise
Well Report Li Owner/ Occupant	Water Bearing Formation		CHOICE COLONY
Depth From Land Surrace 10:	□ Sandstone	Ĩ] Inactive
Well Rettom	Unconsolidated D Shale		
Static Water 2.5 ft	Limestone Crystalline	Ĺ] Perm Filled
Casing Bottom 5.0 ft.			1
Comments: cg. reason for inventory, samples taken, directions	to property, details of well location on property.	, collected before or a	fter water
softener.			

*For "Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

51

GROUNDWATER MONITORING INVENTORY FORM Form 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

aveniory Cormissed By: (1)	ast Name Fr	est MD		With	
Ninner, Miller	A		08/29/2 mmddy		R
				Facility ID	#
lame <u>Llows Aces</u>	<u>:</u> Besin	/		Local Well	ID MWS
				High Cap V	Well #
remary Contect Name (Last,	First, MI?	i i shere i	Automation 和基本的		de <u>of</u> reis
Felenhone Number	NOT SOUTH S		And a second second second second	U Owner	U Driller
1 7.67 1 542	~5738				tor 🛛 Busines
Address	Laperennie y 44	No.	or specific cost of the second s		ant U Fachty
W233 N2-80	Repertury	A Atto	AV	Ge Manad	
ily .	- driver by C.		Sinta	Code D Contra	etor
WAURESHA	the state of the	w de la com	WI.	53198	
Joher Contact Name (Lest, Fi	rst, Ml)				
		-	-	Owner	🛛 🛛 Dritter
esepacate symmetr				D Operat	tor D Busines
()		-			iant D Facility
naming Autoress				Consul	Itant 🛛 Sample
Six			State 7:0	Code U Manag	er Li Other
~~			Source 240		ictor
Vell Location			A	XX) 1/4 1/4	Sec.
Town City Village	Fire # ()	favail.)	County	FALLER FOR STATE	Incation
DEMONOWOU		. •	LLAGROSCA	and straight of the second straight of the second straight of the second straight of the second straight of the	N
hid or Street Address or Ros	ıd (lf evail.)		and the second second second second	Enter Brockers in L	
COUNTY MULY 2			Govt. Lot #		
Roberton 101			OR	w w	F
DONOMOWIE, WI	D at	1251	NO: 1/4 of1/4 of Se	ction	x.
What are	101	HSLOCK	T 8 . 0 17 00		
onstruction Turne			A second a s		
b Drilled	🗌 Dug		Latituda		- Ma
Driven Point	Spring	7	Longitude	Contraction in the second	341840 19
Jetted	Cther		Land Surface	Number of Wells o	n Prosecty
<u> </u>			Elevation ft. M.	a.	10
Construction Date	37		Well Use	Assessment to a state	
0312	912	001	C Private Potal	le 🛛 Comm	unity-Municipal
m m d	d y	y y y	D Priv. Non-Pot	able 🗌 Comm	unity OTM
Constructor			B Monitoring W	el 🛛 🖬 Non T	ransient Non-Con
MOWET ENGLACEAU	to Exelu	5	1. 19 C 20 C	Trans	lent Non-Com
OUTCE OF WELL DALL	-	· · ·		*	Well Stans
e well Report	U Owner	/Occupant			Active Use
Septh From Land Surface		asing Diame	water Bearing Formation		
seorock	ft	7	. Russervited E	anostone	LI inactive
tatic Water -	ft .	<u> </u>	m. Dimester D	naie Seustelline	
	o ftj		Li umescone Li (rystalline	Perm Filled
acing Rottom	n ft		star .		CONTRACTOR AND A CONTRACT

*For "Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

GROUNDWATER MONITORING INVENTORY FORM Form 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

isconsin Unique Well Nur	iber i	1 1 1	J Dr Add 🗆 Change			
Almmel, Mille 1	Name; Fire	ι, MI) :	Dals $D = \frac{D B I 2 4 I 2}{m m 3 3 4 7}$	007		
acility Witch Acer 1	BASIN				Facility ID # Local Well ID High Cap Well #	MW6
rimary Contact Name (Last. P. <u>LEDEN</u> , STAN Telephone Number (262), 542	т, М ^С) - 5733				Owner Operator Occupant. Consistant	D Drite: D Business D Facility D Sampler
USAUKESIA	<u>kinev</u>	ierd Pha	elany Suar Zapi M S	รีเอีย	D Contractor	C Other
Diher Contact Name (Lass, Pin Telephone Number () Mailung Address	a, wii)		State Zip C	Code	Owner Operator Occupant Consultant Manager Contractor	 Driller Business Facility Sampler Other
Well Location Prown Scity □ Village <i>Ologionastoc</i> Grid or Street Address or Row County HWY E OCOJOMONOC, W(Fire # (I s (If avail.)	favail.)	County Whendesura Sourt 10t #	tion <u>27</u>	(X) 1/4 1/4 Sec. Loc	ation N E
Subdivision Name Lan (255) Construction Type Philled Driven Point Jetted	Lot Dug Spring Other	Block	TRRRRRRRRR	Numbe	r of Wells on Prop	S Aile
Construction Date <u><u>c</u> <u>3</u> <u>1</u> <u>2</u> <u>m</u> <u>4</u> Constructor <u>Mio WST</u> <u>ENBINE</u> Source of Well Data <u>B</u>Well Report Depth From Land Surface</u>	1 1 2 <i>RuN6</i> 5 D Owner a To: 6	<u>o</u> <u>o</u> <u>t</u> <u>y</u> y y <u>y</u> y y <u>y</u> y <u>y</u> y <u>y</u> y <u>y</u> y <u>y</u> y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y	Elevationft. MS Well Use Private Potab Priv. Non-Pot Priv. Non-Po	le able ell	Community Community Non Transle Translent N VA	-Municipal OTM ent Non-Con ion-Con. Il Staas Active Usi I Inactive

*For "Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

GROUNDWATER MONITORING INVENTORY FORM Form 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

Wisconsin Unique Well N	umber 过	5. H . 9	1913, PRAdd O Chango		
Inventory Completed By (I	nst Name, Fn -4	st, MI)	Date A Way 2-9 () Come		
A Property of the second	- Claimanna		m a d d y y y	- <u> </u>	
				Facility ID #	
Facility Wood area	K BASIN	r		Local Well ID	MW7
				High Cap Well	
Primary Contact Name (Last,	First, MI) >				
Suber Sand	K	×		O Owner	D Onlier
(2.67) St	- 5732				LI Business
Mailing Address			and an		C Cl. Sampler
W 233 NZO90 1	Incenter	PARKLA	N	B-Manager.	D Other
City Is A Parties		2	Zip Code	Contracto	
Other Contact Name (Lost P	irst, MD	AND ADD AND	601 S3629	No. Chine danged by	1.12.1
Contract a contract of the state of the stat	mark survy			O Owner	D Driller
Telephone Number			A	D Operator	D Business
()				D Occupant	C Facility
blading Address				Consultant	L O Sampler
City			State Zip Code	Contracto	
Well Location	10° 4 /1			(X) 1/4 1/4 Sec	5
A North Contraction Contraction of the Contraction	Line + (1	I avani.)	Chanty MANGEErin		ocation
Orid or Street Address or Ro	ud (lf avail.)		Carthology and Carton Carty Antonion Providence and		
COUNTY MUY 2			Govt Lot #		
OPERATIONALITY IS			OR SW		E
Subdivision Name	Int	Block	1/4 of //4 of Section		E
Not Day			T 8 R 17 BOE DW	STATE -	
Construction Type			OR Peg. Men Tac		Ś
9 Drilled		1	Laucide		- Mile — 🛌
1 Jetted	Cther		Land Surface IN	umber of Wells on Pr	operix
			Elevation ft. MSL	and the second car a s	10
Construction Date			Well Use		1211 A
0912	512.	007	Private Potable	Commun	ty-Municipal
Constructor Cence	<u>d y y</u>	<u>y y</u>	C Monitorion Wall		CY OT M
THEFT GUILLES	LIVE SEL	NCES		Translent	Non-Com.
Source of Well Data	_			l.	Well Status
Be-Well Report	U Owner	Occupant	t Other*		Active Use
Bedrock		earsk rasur	Sandeton		
Well Bottom	16 11	2	in. S Unconsolidated Shale	-	
Static Water	0ft		Umestone Crystallin	e	Perm Filled
Casing Bottom	ft.				and a second of
comments: eg. reason for inve	entory, sample	s taken, direv	ctions to property, details of well location on proper	ty, collected before or	after water

*For "Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

GROUNDWATER MONITORING INVENTORY FORM FORM 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

Constant with the state of the second second

Visconsin Unique Weil Num	ber LD	Hill	山北西	Add 🗌 🗘	Thange	y Autoria		
Ivenary Completed By (Lest Minunes, Mitte A.	Name, First	(MU)		Date $\underline{\mathcal{L}} \underline{\mathcal{L}} I \underline{\mathcal{L}}$ m m d	91200	₩ ¥		
'acillity Wood Press , Vanue Wood Press ,	Basin				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1 1	acility ID # .ocal Well ID ligh Cap Well	#
Timury Contact Name (Last, Pin SUGIEN, STAN & Telephone Number (262) 542- Mailing Address US 233 N2091 City Charlesson	ж, МІУ — <u>5733</u> 2 <i>Кі</i> фу	2/6W /	Anjenory State		Zip Code 5 3/8		Owner Operator Occupant Consultant PRanager Constructor	O Driler Business O Facility O Sampler O Other
Other Contact Name (Last, First Telephone Number () Mailing Address City	, MI)		State		ZipCode		Owner Operator Occupant Consultant Manager Contractor	Driller Business Facility Sampler Other
Well Location ØTown City Village OCAD MOND C Ond or Surea Address or Road COWTY HWY E	Fire # (If (If avail.)	zvai.)	County INHU Gove Lot #	VESUA	4 of Section	27	(X) 1/4 1/4 See L	s. .ocation N
Subdivision Name <i>Max Reset</i> Construction Type g-Drilled Driven Point Jetted	Lot Dug Spring Other	Block	T OR Latitude Longitude Land Surface	: R (7		W Sec.	of Wells on P	S - Mile
Construction Date <u>D</u> <u>q</u> <u>r</u> <u>2</u> <u>m</u> <u>d</u> Constructor <u>Cons</u> <u>g</u> <u>constructor <u>Cons</u> <u>g</u> <u>constructor <u>Cons</u> <u>g</u> <u>constructor</u> <u>cons</u> <u>g</u> <u>constructor</u> <u>cons</u> <u>g</u> <u>constructor</u> <u>cons</u> <u>cons</u> <u>cons</u> <u>cons</u> <u>constructor</u> <u>cons</u> <u>cons</u></u></u>	5 / 2- d y y 60/10/6 1 Owner/ To: C: ft. ft.	<u>o</u> o <u>t</u> <u>y</u> y <u>Secuces</u> <u>Occupant</u> asing Diamet	Elevation	Well Use Privat Privat Priv, 1 Fr Monit Other* aring Formation onsolidated	ft, MSL = Potable Non-Potable oring Well an Sands Shale Crystr	tone	Commun Commun Non Trainsien	Lty-Municipal ity OTM Islent Non-Com. Vell Status EPActive Use Inactive

*For *Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

GROUNDWATER MONITORING INVENTORY FORM Form 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

Wiscensin Unique Well Num	ber 1 <u>31411</u>	19(Z) PAdd D Change		
Inveniory Complexed By (Last	Name, First, MI)	Date $\frac{\partial \hat{y}_{j}}{m} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_{j}}{\partial d} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_{j}}{\partial y} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_{j}}{\partial y} \frac{\partial \hat{y}_{j}}{\partial y}$		
Facility Wood Accel	BASIN		Facility ID # _ Local Well ID High Cap Well #	Мыя
Primary Contact Name (Last, Pri <u>Jubas</u>), <u>Strey</u> , <u>R</u> Telephone Number (262), <u>542</u> Mailing Acdress <u>Iub233</u> , <u>NZe Ho</u> Cloy, <u>WAUKESHis</u>	ы. но) - 5 733 Андеренени /	Harrie Zio Code Will 53/88	Ownes Operator Occupant Occupant Coreultant Manager Contractor	Drifer Businets Facility Sampler Other
Sther Contact Name (Less, First Falephone Number () Mailing Address Sity	.MI)	State Zip Code	Owner Operator Occupant Consultant Manager Contractor	Driller Business Facility Sampler Other
Well Location] Town DECity □ Village DCRMMMW3C Drid or Street Address or Road Camry HUY 2	Firt # (If avail.) (If avail.)	County Intelligence	(X) 1/4 1/4 Sec.	stion V
Subdivision Name Wass ULEEK Construction Type Drilled Driven Point Jetted	Lot Block Dug Spring Other	T 8 R 17 RPE W OR Bet His Sec Latitude Longitude Land Sarface	er of Weils on Proper	
Construction Date $\frac{O}{m} \frac{q}{m} \frac{l}{d} \frac{2}{d}$ Constructor Seles $\frac{l}{d}$ Constructor Seles $\frac{l}{d}$ Source of Well Data	512 00 6 7 7 7 7 100016	Betration IL MSL Well Use Private Potable Priv. Non-Potable Bo Monitoring Well	Community Community Non Transier Transient No Web	Municipal DTM It Non-Com In-Com, Islana
Weil Report Depth From Land Surface 1 Sedrock Well Bottom (6 Static Water U-3 asing Bottom	Owner/Occupant fo: Casing Diame ft. ft. ft. ft.	t Other* ter Water Boaring Formation Sandstone _ in, 27Unconsolidated Shale Limestone Crystalline		Active Use Inactive Perm Filled

*For "Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

GROUNDWATER MONIFORING INVENTORY FORM Form 3300-67 Rev. 8-95

Wisconsin Unique Well Num	ber L	1 .I. I	L P	- Add 🔲	Change			
Inventory Completed By (Last Miner Mine , H	Name, Pirst	MI)	and to be	Date $\frac{2}{m} \frac{1}{m} \frac{1}{d}$	741200	,7 ,7	Alla D DNR D	
							Facility ID #	
Pacility Whop Press	Brein						Local Well ID	MWID
NHEIG							High Cap Well	+
Prinary Conjust Name (Lan. Fit 1990) Scotter Telephone Number	n Mir , Stiand,	к.					Owner Operator	Driller Deller
(262) 542	-573	3					C Occupant	D Facility
Mailing Address	on .	hiercon	1) Anes	мY			B" Managor	0 Other
Chy I have a		A COMPANY	· Stat	e	Zip Code		Contractor	
Other Contact Name (Last, First	, MI)	C. S. C. S.	Contraction of the	a state of the state of the	23108	100 A. 19		
and a restaura to the second s			· · ·		~		D Owner	Driller
Telephone Number							Occupant	Business Facility
Mailing Address					*		Consultant	Sampler
				lé	ZinCode		Contractor	C Other
City			Jun	10	x.11 0000			
Well Location	100 3 474		10				(X) 1/4 1/4 See	
Town PrCity [] Village	Piro # (11	evasi.)	Country	JAVYESHA	0.000			N
Grid or Street Address or Road	(lf avail.)					16 A 17		
QUATY HUY Z			Govt: Lot	#		251.511		
			NE 1/	1 of SW 1/	4 of Section	27	W	X E
Subdivision Name	Lot	Block	т · Я.	18 17	F THE T	w		
Construction Type		<u> </u>	OR	Deg	Mas	Set.		\$
Drilled	C Soring		Latitude	-		1.1.1.1.5		- Mile —
Driven Point	Other		Land Surfac	e		Numbe	r of Wells on Pr	operty /
		ne koria	Elevatio	n	_ fi_ MSL		A NORTH AND A NEW YORK	
Construction Date	1 2	7		Well Use	e Potshle			ty-Municipal
	<u>+ 1</u>	<u>v v</u>		D Priv. I	Non-Potable		Communi	ty OTM
Constructor		c	-	, CP Monit	oring Well		Non Tran	sient Non-Com.
PHOLEST ENGINE	exists a	Envices		1997 1 C St. 49	n an			Well Status
B' Well Report	Owner/	Occupant	C	Other*				Active Use
Depth From Land Surface	To: Ca	sing Diame	ter Water B	earing Formatio	in Dêsada	tone		D loactive
Bedrock	ti di	2	in 2 Un	consolidated	Sands	NU 115		E. BRELIVE
Static Water 7.	5 ft	~~~		nestone	Cryst.	alline	- 12	Perm Filed
Casing Bottom	<u>s</u> ft			. J.c. 7 P.	11 1		Howard balance	after water
Commente: eg. reason for invent softener.	iery, samples	tsken, direc	ations to proper	ty, details of we	a tocation on p	roperty, o	AUXOCU DEIORE OF	THE WHE

*For "Other", enter a description in the comment area if needed.

57

State of Wisconsia Department of Natural Researces Route 12: 1	Watershed/Wastewater	Waste Management	MONITORING WELL CONSTRUCTION
	Ramediation/Rodevelopment	Other 🖸	TCEIN 4450-112/C 1005-7-98
Pacility/Project Name (NOOD PLEEK BASIN)	Local Grid Location of Well	N	Well Name MLJA
Facility License, Permit or Monitoring No.	Local Grid Origin [] (estimat	ted: .) or Well Location	Wis, Unique Well No. DNR Well ID No.
Facility ID	St. Planeft. N,	n. b. s/C/N	Date Well Installed
	Socilon Location of Waste/Sour	roe da	mm dd y y y y
Well Code 1/ ML	NE 14 of SW 1/4 of Sec.	17.T. 8 N.R. 17 04	Well Installed By: Nume (first, last) and Firm
Distance from Waste/ Enf. Stds.	Location of Well Kelanve to Wi	Sideoradiara	
Sourceft. Apply	d Downgradient n D	Net Known	Millingst brout paratis
A. Protective pipe, top elevation	ft.MSL	L. Cup and lock?	B Yes D No
B. Well casing, top elevation	fr. MSL	a Inside diameter	pape.
C 1 and profess along the	6 MSI	b. Lensthr	
C. Land Malace COVAIDOR		Constant c. Materials	Steel D 04
D. Surface stal, bottom ft. MS	L or ft.		Other 🗖 💥
12. USCS classification of soil near screen	a: 20050	No d. Additional pro	visction? C Yes C No
GPD GMD GCD GWD 5	SWD SPD \U	If yes, describ	¢
SM D SC D MLD MHD C	тосној АН		Bentonite 2 30
Bedrock		3. Surface scal:	Concrete D 01
13. Sieve analysis performed?	Yes D No		Other 🛛 🎆
14. Drilling method used: Rot	ary D 50	4. Material between	well casing and protective pipe:
Hollow Stem Au	## 말 11 8	8	Bentimite 🖾 30
O	ther D 🗱 🛛 📓	圈	Other D 过
		5. Annular space se	al: a. Granular/Chipped Bentonity-E 33
15. Drilling floid used: Water LI UZ		hLbs/galn	and weight Bentoaits sand shirry 35
Caund and C 0.3 h	ione L yy	eLbs/gal 1	and weight Bentonite slusry D 31
16. Drilling additives used?	Vet ELNo	d % Bentur	ite Bentonite-orment grout D 50
		🕅 eFt	² volume added for sny of the above
Describe		f. How installed	: Tremie 🛛 01
17. Source of water (stituch analysis, if rear	érad):	83	Trenie numped D_02
	器		Gravity 27 08
		6. Bentonite seal:	s. Bentonite grantikes [] 33
E. Bentooite seal, won ft, MS	Lor_ 0.0 ft	$1 - \frac{1}{2} b_{1} a_{2}$	Syll in. U1/2 in. Bentonite chips 27 32
P Provide and the second secon		2. Fine sand materi	at Manufacturer penduci name & mesh size
C Pute tract, why		N/1 . al lit	Course broken I bus 2000
G. Filter pack, topft. MS	La ton	h. Volume addee	1
		8. Filter pack mater	ial: Manufacturer, product name & mesh size
H. Screen joins, top	Lor	a rep that	hard sand 2 by
I. Well bottom	Lor_15.0 A	9. Well ensing:	Flush threaded PVC schedule 40 Z 23
			Plush threaded PVC schedule 80 📋 24
J. Filter pack, bottomft. MSI	Lar_10.0 ft		Other 🛛 🚆
K Bombala bottom 0 MSI	Las 15.5 A.	10. Serven macenal:	<u>3.04 49 PUC</u>
		a. acreen type:	Continuer dat El an
L. Berehole diameter 7.155 in		a de la companya de l	Columber Stor D 61
		h Manufarman	
M. O.D. well easing 2.4		c. Storsize:	0.01cin
***		d. Slotted length	10.0 h
N. I.D. well casing 2.05 in		11. Backfill material	(below filter peck): None 2 14
			Other D 313
I hereby certify that the information on this	form is true and courset to the be	est of my knowledge.	
Signature MAL	Firm	1 1	
Malos	UW-M	HOIJON	

Please semplets both Forms 4400-113A and 4400-113B and mitters them to the appropriate DNR officer and burress. Completion of these reports is required by chs. 160, 261, 283, 289, 281, 282, 291, 282, 293, 295, and 299, Wits. Stats, and ch. NR 141, Wits. Adva. Code. In accordance with the 281, 289, 291, 282, 293, 295, and 299, Wits. Stats, failure to file these forms may solve it as forefringer of barress. It also to file these forms in a solve the stats of the and the stats, failure to file instruction on them forms is not intended to be used for any other purpose. NOTE: See the instructions form on information, including where the completed forms should be seen.



Stars of Wisconsia Department of Natural Resources <u>Route to:</u>	Watershed/Westewater	Waste Management	MONITORING WELL CONSTRUCTION Form 4400-113A Rev. 7-98
Facility/Project Name	Remediation/Redeveloperent		Wall Name
Labor Rover Borne		N	Mislic
Facility License Permit or Monitoring No.	Local Grid Orialo D Cestima	tad: (1) or Well location (1)	Was Unique Wall No. INNE Wall IT No.
Paoliny Excess, Fernin & analitating Po.			Wis, Onique Weit No. DAK Weit ID Ha.
Exclusion 10	Lai 1	ong0	
Facility ID	St. Plancft. N,	ft. E. S/C/N	Date well installed
	Section Location of Waste/Sour	(De	<u> </u>
Type of Well	NE THOP She IN OF Sec.	27.T. B NR A TR	Well Installed By: Name (first, last) and Firm
Well Code/_////	I contion of Well Palatius to W	anter Breather Cons Let Manhar	- STELE GANYOR
Distance from Waste/ Enf. Stds.	u Upgradient s	Sidegradient	
Sourceft Apply	d Downeration n	Not Known	MINNEY BUNERWY ENVES
A. Protective pipe, top elevation	fr. MSL	1. Cap and lock?	Yes D No
R Wall carios Inc. eleustica	A MSL	A Projective cover	pipe:
and the second property of the second s		a. Inside diamete	e:M.
C. Land surface elevation	(LMSL	b. Length:	î.
5.8.4		c. Material:	Stocl D 04
LA Surface seal, bottom ft. Ma	St. or It. Start t	1838	Other 🛛 💥
12. USCS classification of soil near screet	1: KSW2	N d. Additional pro	pizetion? I Yes I No
OP D GM D GC D GW D S		IN If yes, descrift	*
SM D SC D MLD MHD C			Berta 20 3.0
Bedrock	58	3. Surface seal:	
13. Sieve analysis performed?	Yes D No 🕅		CONSIGN ST
14 Defilition and desired			Clifer L 🙀
14. Driving method used: Ko		A MIDIGINAL DETWICE	well casing and protective pape:
Hollow Stem As			Bentonble 🖬 30
V			OberD @
LIS DOWN DIE NUMEROA		5. Annular space as	al: a. Granular/Chipped Bentonite, D 33
15. Drilling linic used: Water () 0 2		bLbs/gal	mud weight Bontonite-sand slurry 2 35
Dining brac [] [] 3 P	None LI YY	cLbs/gal a	mud weight Benconize shurry 🛛 31
14 10-11-1-11-11-1-10		d % Bentoe	uite Bentonite-coment grout [] 50
To. Loning sodieves used 1		AA	³ volume added for any of the above
		f How installed	Tranic [] 01
Describe	I 🕅	61 61	Tremis parqued 🔲 0.2
17. Source of water (attach analysis, if requ	Ared):		Gravity ET os
		6. Bentonite seal:	a. Bentonite granules 🗖 33
		► D164 in D	10 in F110 in Bastonia ables 17 10
F. Bentropite seal top ft. MS	Lor O.O.A.	1 - 24465	
manusculture and rule and an and and the			
F Fine and ton ft MS	1. 4.0	7. Fine sand materi	al: Manufacturer, product name & mesh size
and the second sec		B/1, we get	Anna to-calbia me
C 70	In ton NY	N/	-3
G. Pilser pick, top	corwas in the	b. Volume added	1 ft ³
		8. Filser pack mater	ial: Manufacturer, product name & mesh size
H. Screen joint, top IL MS	La n	17 - 10 (4T. WT	Calific
10		b. Volume adde	1 Zings h ⁹
I. Well bottom	ra-13.0 tr	9. Well casing:	Flosh threaded PVC schedule 40 Z 23
		KL .	Flush threaded PVC schedule 80 [] 24
J. Filter pack, bottomft. MS	Lar_15.5 A-		Other 🛛 💹
		10 Screen maradat	Scot 40 BR
K. Bornhole, hottom ft. MS	Lor_15.5 AL	S Corner huner	England Contract
			Continuous sites D as
1 Rembals dimension 7.625 -		e t	
L Buttlett, Galancer m.		\ . 	Caner Li gg
¥ 00 - 2.1		b. Manufactuser	
m. U.D. wen casing m.			U. 5/2 m.
3.5		A a anonco sengui	
N. I.D. well casing 2+ 25 in.		11. Backfill material	(below filter pack): Nong 2 14
		********	Other 🛛 🎬
I hereby certify that the information on this	form is true and correct to the be	est of my knowledge.	
Signature	Firm		
ALACT	UN-AM	WSON	

Plasse samplete both Forms 4400-113A and 6460-113B and returns them to the appropriate DNR office and burness. Completion of these reports it required by chs. 160, 261, 283, 280, 291, 292, 293, 295, and 299, Will, Stats, failure to file these forms may result in a forfaiture of bottween \$10 and \$15,000, or imprisonment for up to one year, depending on the program and conduct involved. Personally identifiable information on these forms is not intended to be used for any other purpose. NOTE: See the instructions for more information, including where the completed forms should be see.

State of Witerensin Department of Natural Resources Route to: V	Vatershed/Wastewater	Waste Management	MONITORING WELL CONSTRUCTION Form 4400-113A Ray, 7-98
Facility/Project Name	Local Grid Location of Well	N DE	Well Name MIST
Wood Greek BARN	<u>FL 🗄</u>	<u>s</u> t. <u>Dw</u> _	171W 7
Pacifity License, Permit or Monitoring No.	Local Orid Origin 🔲 (estimat	ned: 🗋) or Well Location 🗔	Wis. Unique Well No. UNK Well 10 Mo.
	Lat1	.ong 0	Dres Well Installed
Facility ID	St. Plonsft. N.		DE WEE HEL MEL DE 1 2 50 6
	Section Location of Waste/Sour	ne 在2	Well Installed By: Name (first, last) and Firm
Type of Well	14 of 51 1/4 of Sec_	27.T. 8 N.R. 17 0W	
Well Code / Pi V/	Location of Well Relative to W	aste/Science Gov. Lot Number	· · ·
Course o Anniv r		Not Known	Doils & trabalance Scances
Source EL MPPO LI	A Mes	- I. Cap and lock?	PYes D No
A. Protective peps, top clovelion		2. Protoctive cover	pipe:
B. Well casing, top elevation	n MSL - 1	a Inside diamet	er: in.
C. L I and the shareful	n MSL	b. Longth:	ft.
C, Land surface cicvation	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	e. Material:	Steel D 04
D. Scaface and, bottom	SL or TL Starter		Other 🗆 🎎
12. USCS classification of soil near scree	m 200506	d. Additional pr	otection? 🖸 Yea 🗆 No
GP GM GC OW C		If yes, descri	
SM D SC D MLU MHU	ar a chraite i a the	3. Surface seal:	Bentennie 12 30
Bedrock L	V. D.V.		Constrate C 01
13. Sieve analysis periormed?			
14. Drilling method used: Ro	tary D 50	4. Muscrist betwee	n wen casang mai protectivo pape. Bantanite 🖸 30
Hollow Stem A			
v			a Granular/Chipoed Beatonite D 33
15 Fulltime found mends Water [] 0.2	Air D 01	5. Annular spaces	much waring the Berntonite-rand shurry 35
Drilling Mud 0 03	Name 99	B	mud weight Bentonine slurry D 31
		d S Bento	nite Bentonite-cement grout D 50
16. Drilling additives used?	Yes 🗆 No	P	³ volume added for my of the above
		f. How installe	d: Tromis 🛛 01
Describe			Treasic pumped D_02
17. Source of water (anach analysis, if seq	uired):		Gravity E. 08
	8	6. Bentonite seal:	s. Béntersile granulés p1 33
	10.	B. □1/4 in.)	d3/8 in. U1/2 in. Bentonite chips 12 32
E. Bestoniks seel, topft. M	SL or ft_		Uther U 🎬
	- AD as 1	7. Fine sand mater	ial: Manufacturar, product name & mesh size
F. Fine sund, top H. M.	sta	R/1. #15 %	LI Flat 🐲
	er 5,0 m NE	Nolume add	nd 1 ken A3
O. Piller pack, top		8. Filler nack man	erisi: Manufacturer, product name & mesh size
11 Commission tout ft. M	stor 6.0 a	1 / . 1402	Test m
Tr Gereen Jourd ads		b Volume add	61 2 64/5 ft 3
L. Well bozom fL. M.	SLor_10.0 A	9. Well casing:	Flush threaded PVC schedule 40 2 23
1			Flush threaded PVC schedule 80 🖸 24
J. Filter pack, bottom fr. M	SL or 11.9 A.	匮 /	Other 🛛 🔤
-	(20-	10. Screen materia	1: III III
K. Borchole, bottomfL M	slor_JJUn 🛛	a. Screen type	Fictory out 2 11
21-			
L. Borehole, diameter _ 7.9.5 in.			
7.4		o. Slot size:	0. 010 in.
M. O.D. well casing in.		A Slotted lene	th: _10.0 ft.
N 10 1 205 -		11. Backfill materi	al (below fister pack): None 1 14
IN. I.D. Well carding _ = = 2 In.		A A C REAL PROPERTY OF A PROPERTY OF	Other D 🕅
I beasing certify that the information on this	is form is true and correct to the	best of my knowledge.	
Signature Area	[Pizm		
a state of the sta	GW-1	MARSON	

State of Wisconsia Department of Natural Resources <u>Rouse to:</u>	Watershed/Wastewater	Wisste Management	MONITORING WELL CONSTRUCTION Form 4400-113A Rev. 7-98
Facility/Project Name	Local Grid Location of Well		Well Name
Woon Gener BARN	<u> </u>	SA.U.W	MWB
Pacility License, Permit or Monitoring No.	Local Grid Origin 🔲 (estimat	und: 🗆) or Well Location 🗖	Wis. Unique Well No. DNR Well ID No.
	Lat 1	ong o:	<u>IH994</u>
Facility ID	St. Planeft. N.	R.E. S/C/N	Date Well Installed
	Section Location of Waste/Sour	****	<u> </u>
Type of Well	AG14 of SW 14 of Sec.	27.T. 8 N.R. 17 8	Well Installed By: Name (first, lest) and Firm
Well Code / Mu	Location of Well Relative to W	aste/Source Gev. Lot Number	
Distance from Waste/ Enf. Seds.	u 🗆 Upgradicat s 🗖	Sidogradient	Sales & Conversion Courses
SourceR Apply []	d Downgradient n	Not Known	Juney 7. (Salk Skings C Blokes
A. Protective pipe, top elevation	fLMSL		
B. Well casing, too elevation	R.MSL	2 Protective cover	pape:
		A. Inside diameter	с <u>– – "</u>
C. Land surface elevation		o Longua:	
D. Staface seel, bottom	LorR	a Mineral	
12 USCS classification of soil page some		CREASE of Additional and	
		BA If use describ	
SM C SC C MLC MHC C			Bentunita E 30
Bedrock		3. Surface scale	
13. Sieve analysis performed?	Yes D No		
14. Drilling method used: Rot	ary 130	4. Material between	well casing and protective rine:
Hollow Stem Au	ager 0 41		Bentimite 2 30
0	dher D 💥 👘		Other D STR
		5. Annular space se	al: a. Granulan Chipped Bentonite PI 33
15. Drilling fluid used: Water D 0 2	Ar 0 01	h Lbs/gal r	and weight Bentonite-sand shurry 35
Drilling Mud D 0 3 P	Sans 🗆 99 🛛 🔛 .	Lbs/gal r	nud weight Bratonite sharry D 31
		d % Beaton	ite Bentonite-cement grout 0 50
10. Drilling adoutives used?		F:	³ volume added for my of the above
Describe		f. How installed	Tremie 🖸 01
17 Common of meters (attach analysis) if me		20 C	Tremis pumped 🗖 02
17. Socree of water (ansist energies, a requ	inou).		Gravity_EC 08
		6. Bentenite scal:	a. Beniunite granules E 33
	. /	н О146. р	3/8 in. 1/2 in. Bemonite chips 2 32
E. Bentonile stal, topIL MS	LOT JOE IL	2 / c	Other 🛛 🗽
E Ring and ton & MC	1 ~ 40 a \ B	🕅 🖊 7. Fine sand materia	d: Manufacturer, product name & mesh size
r. rus sand, up		All the a	1 Sht m
G Educated too 6 MS	1 - 60 m		
C. I show pack, top		D. VOLTING ADDED	1 / .904 11-
H. Screen joint, top fr. MS	Lor6.0_ ft	a. Piller pack mater	el Aut
	100.	b. Volume addee	1_26155 B3
I. Well bottom	Lor_100 A	9. Well easing:	Flush threaded PVC schedule 40 Z 23
In the second			Flush threaded PVC schedule 80' 🖂 24,
J. Filter pack, bottom ft. MS	Lor H.		Other 🛛 🞇
	. 162 .	10. Screen material:	S G4 40 PrC SS
K, Elerchole, bottom IL MS		 Screen type: 	Factory cut ZI 11
7415			Continuous slot 0 01
1. Borehole, diameter in.	196	\	Other D 💥
7.4		b. Manufacturer	a dia :
M. U.D. well casing m.		C. SIDE SIZE:	U. <u>VIV</u> in
2.15 . 2.05 .		C G, aronas lengtur	
te rry well claude in		11. Backhel malerial	(DELOW INTER PREK): None-10 14
I haraba annifa that the Mountain the	from is true and opened to the be	et of one based of a	Under LJ State
Constrainty centry that to set to make on this	Dona is one and correct to 466 be	or or my knowninger	······································
Math	1121-010	N(con)	

Plass a complete both Poens 4400-113A and 4400-113B and secure them to the appropriate DNR affices and hurson. Completion of these respons is required by che. 160, 281, 283, 289, 291, 292, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, and ch. NR 141, Win. Advo. Code. In accordance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, and ch. NR 141, Win. Advo. Code. In accordance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, and ch. NR 141, Win. Advo. Code. In accordance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, and ch. NR 141, Win. Advo. Code. In secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. Test the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. Test the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with els. 281, 289, 291, 293, 293, 295, and 299, Win. State, fashing to fast the secondance with else to easy the secondance with else t

Siste of Wisconsis Department of National Resources <u>Route tor</u>	Vatershed/Wastewater	Waste Mans	Igement 🔲	MONITORING WELL CONSTRUCTION Form 4400-113A Ray, 7-98
E. Marian Maria	I ocal Grid Location of Well			Well Name
La both A and Descrit	n.	٦Ņ.	f. Ow	MUS9
VVAD (200 Bright	Local Orid Origin TT (estin	material Di) or	Well Location	Wis, Unique Well No. JONR Well ID No.
Parality License, Fernits of avointoining No.		F	1 11	JH 992
	Lai,	Long	W	Date Well Incrailed
Facility ID	St. Pimeft.)	N	ft. E S/C/N	<u> </u>
	Section Location of Waste/Sc	Varce .	aria.	In In & A y y y y
Type of Well // at a	NG 14 of Sty 14 of Sec	27 . 8	N.R. 17-0%	Web leaded By: Male (inst, ick) and their
Well Code //W	Location of Wall Relative to	Wast-/Separce	Gev. Lot Number	
Distance from Waste/ Enf. Stds.	u [] Upgradient \$ [5idegradient		Sund France - Destant
Source e Apply	d Downgradient n	Not Known		JOUS & CHARLERAND J CHARLES
t Description and claustice	ê MSI		. Cap and lock?	E Tes D No
A. Procedive pipe, sup carvanum		-1-12	Protocilive cover	påpe:
R. Well essing, top elevation	n_MSL [Als I	a. Jesúda diametr	rii.
Wet max managed to will the structure			h Lenethe	ft.
C. Land surface elevation	R. MSL	h	a Manufali	Steel C1 0.4
The Conference of Marian	the second se	LA STOR	C. PERSONAL	Ontor [] 1988
1A Buttace scal, bolice = = = = = = = =				
12. USCS classification of soil new screet		N	d. Additional pr	
GPD GMD GCD GWD			II yes, descri	×:
SM C SC MLO MHO	а сн		Exertana souls	Benomie-C 30
Bedrock			J Chill Laws Beats	Concrete 🖾 01
13. Sieve analysis performed?	Yes 🗆 No 🛛 🕅			Other 🛛 👸
14 Delline method wash	INN 11 50 1		4. Material betwee	a well casing and protective pipe:
Le Many Freedood about		3 83		Bensonlies 30
Hoalow Steal A				Other 🗆 👯
				Grandard Thinned Bentanite P 33
to Date out and Water D 02	AND 01 1		b. Aneralar space s	
Dilling full used: while Li 0 2			bLbs/gal	mud weight, Generate tand start C
Curring when C 0 3			cUxs/gal	mud weight Hentonite slurry 🖬 51
12.0.00	Var PINA		d % Bento	nite Bemonike-cement grout L1 50
			cFi	" volume added for any of the above
			f. How installes	š: Tremie 🗆 01
Describe	×			Tremie pumped 🛛 0.2
17. Source of water (attach analysis, if req	uired):	1 648		Gravity 2 08
	日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日		5. Bentonite scale	a, Bentemite grantiles 🔲 33
			h 014 in 1	33/8 in. 01/2 in. Bentanite chips. 2 32
E Barrent the ft MS	stor / 10 ft.		*	Other D 323
E Bestonie seal, mp				
T Emande and the D MS	1 m 4.0 m \		 Fine sand mater 	ial: Manufacturer, product name & meah aize
P. Pine stad, sop to m.	and		. HIS has	l Flat III
A 18	- 50 a. NS		1 12 1	1 164 03
G. Filter pack, top IL M3	stort		b, volume and	M <u>/ 987</u> N ⁻
	- 60 a-		8. Filler pack man	rial: Amanazourer, product hanse & mean size
H. Sareen joint, top IL MS	sLorR		a prov A.	of Phat 22
	14 A	商家	b. Vohame add	the contract of the second sec
J. Well boxom fL M2	SLor_JEL R.		9. Well casing:	Flush threaded PVC schedule 40 / 23
				Flush threaded PVC schedule 60 [] 24
J. Filter pack, bottom	SLor 110 ft			Other 🛛 🕮
			0. Screen material	: Say to AV2.
P Boschole bottom ft Mi	slor_17.0_A	140	a. Screen type:	Factory cut [F 1]
N= Dividing of the second seco				Continuous slot 🔲 01
7,625	NB NB	and a		Ober 🗍 🕮
L. Borenole, diameter Die m			h Manufaation	
74		1	p, relations	n \$/* ia.
M. O.D. well easing in.			J Cloud loso	6
2-15		N	u. asoneu milgi	
N. 1D. well cassing in.		1	1. Hackfill materia	u (selow litter pack): None La 14
		-	-	Uther LI 🚳
I hereby certify that the information on this	s form is true and corract to the	e best of my kno	wledge.	
Signature - 1	Firm			
dietter.	44-	AL Aprison	/	

Plaars complete both Forms 4000 113A and 4000-113B and returns them to the appropriate DNR efficie and hareas. Completion of these separa is required by cfs. 160, 281, 283, 289, 291, 292, 293, 295, and 289, Wis. State, and ch. NR 141, Win. Adva. Code. In necondarias with chi. 211, 280, 291, 292, 293, 295, and 299, Wis. State, failure to file these forms may result in a forferum of between \$10 and \$25,000, or imprisonment for up to one year, depending on the program and conduct involved. Personally identifiable information on these forms is not intended to be used for any other purpose. NOTE: Sou the instructions for more information, including where the completed forms check has completed forme check has cert.

Stars of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources <u>Route to:</u>	Watershed/Wastewater[Remodiation/Redevelor		Witte Mana	gensent.	MONITORING W Form 4400-113A	ELL CONSTRUCT Rev. 7-98	10N
Facility/Project Name	Local Grid Location of	Well DN	<u> </u>		Well Name MI Un		
Wass CREEK BASIN					1 Miguit	- AREAR ARE WEINEN	
Facility License, Permit or Memitoring No.	Local Grid Origin	(esumated	:⊡) ar ®:	Well Location	Wis. Unique Well	NO. DUNK WEITED N	0.
Pacility ID	St. Plans	t. N		fl. E. S/C/N	Dare Well Installer	11041200	7
Theme of Well	Section Location of W	ESEN/Scharce		- PE	Wall Installed Bar	D C C Y Y Y	ř.
Well Code _ 11 / MW	NG1/4 of JAV 1/4	t of Sec. 27	L.T. 9	N.R. 11 TW		Hanno (Hessa, hass) ana	
Distance from Waste/ Enf. Stds.	u D Upgradient	5 0 5	degradient	CON. LOS MUNICIP			
SourceR Apply []	d Downgradient		of Known		MUALEST O	Voueseurous Service	5
A. Protective pipe, top elevellon	fl. MSL —		1-1	Cap and lock?	-1	A D Kes D	No.
B. Well casing, top elevation	n. MSL	-TA	0	a, Inside diamete	gipe: 91:		in.
C. Land surface elevation	fi. MSL		~	b. Length:			ñ.
D. Surface seal, bottom	SL or ft 😹		1 State	C. Material:		Other	U4 2006
12. USCS classification of soil near screet			Beladit	d. Additional on	Station 7	ΠΥωΠ	No
	wn sen l		1 1	If we desort			
SM C SC C MLC MHC		VII U	\sim	IL Just descin		Bannulla Pr	30
Bedrock			1 1 3	Surface seals			au au
13. Sieve analysis performed?	Yes D No						Sile.
14 Pulling and Amerika Bar				Leans to be annual	a mail analyse and me		
14. Lating method used: Roy	ary U SV			WINKTON DOWNED	n wen casing and pro	iocave pipe:	a n
Hollow Sign At						Benjuances La	30
V		國際	1			_ Other L	
4 D 141 0 13	11- FL A3		5	Annular space a	a. Granulary C	hipped Bentonite 2	33
13. Drilling flost used: Water L3 U Z	APLUI		і - ь	Lbs/gals	mad weight Nenb	mits-seed slurry	35
remute wind CL0.3 1	None L 99		c	Lbs/gal	mad weight 1	Bantonite slurry	31
16 Dullting additions used	Var FINA		6	% Benici	vjoe Benton	ite-cement grout []	50
In Dimmik southes ment			: :	Fi	" volume added for a	my of the above	
Describe			1 1	How installed	ŀ	T re mie 🗖	01
Lesoribe			12.3.5			Tremie pumped 🔲	02
17. Source of white (attach mutysis, if rog.	HEC):		1			Gravity E	08
			6.	Bentonite seal:	, a. Be	atunite granules 🖉 🛛	33
			8	b. D1/4 in. 52	5/8 in. D1/2 in.	Bentonite chips 🗖	32
E. Bentonite seal, topft. hts	Lorff_			e		- Other 🛛	23
F. Fine cand, top ft. MS	iLorft		2.	Fine sand materi	at: Manufacturer, p	nduct name & mesh s	181016
			¥ /	a not that	- Royanse 10-6	10 j	32
G. Filter pack, topft. MS	L or ft		\mathbf{V}	b. Volume adde	d 623	_n ³	
	8.5 -		1 ,8	Filter pack mater	ial: Manufacturer, p	rnduct name & mith	124
H. Screen joint, top IL 015	Lor IL ~			a 101 TT.	A parse send	e3 5	
L Well borrow ft. MS	Los 11.5 A.		1 9	Well casing:	Flux's threaded PV	C schedule 40 PT	23
			1	. wen owning.	Thish threaded PV	Curbertale 80 D	74
J. Filter pack, bottom	Lorf.	ノ市				Other D	т а. (1)
	1250		10	Screen material:	SLH to N	<u>~</u>	25
K. Borchole, bottom ft. MS	Lorest n	、 🕮	1	a. Screen type:	- a.45	Factory cut	11
L. Borehole, diameter in.			5			Other 🗆	01 333
				b. Manufacturer			1120
M. O.D. well easing in.			1	e. Slot size:		0.1/0	'n
			1	a. Stones lengt			, IL
N. LD. well casing in.			11.	Backfill material	(below filter pack);	Nong_ld"	14
I hereby certify that the infrastiation on this	form is the and correct	t in the best	of my know	dedre.			
Construe	Itim		ar my knok				
At	- H	W-MA	raison			1	

MONITORING WELL DEVELOPMENT Form 4400-1138 Rev. 7-98

Route to: Watershed/Waster	water 🔲	Weste Management				
Remediation/Redu	svelopment 🗌	Оња 🗖				
Facility/Project Name	County Name		Well Name	5 Å-		
Ward Brock Basin	WANKSMA		1710	V 17	TO Marken	
Facility License, Permit ar Monitoring Number	County Code	Wis. Unique Well N	un ber	DNK Web		
1. Can this well be purged dry?		11. Depth to Water (from ton of 13256 (3256)				
2. Well development method		well casing)	a ~ .	Carlo Same Pho	= 0 0	
surged with bailer and bailed	1	in the country of				
surged with bailer and pumped	\$1				·	
surged with block and bailed	42	Date	b_211-1	1000		
surged with block and pumped	52		mmdt	• y y y	y m m s s y y y	
surged with block, bailed and pumped 📋	70				2 . 2 . D .m.	
compressed air	20	Time	e – T : e :	e jorp.m.	<u></u>	
bailed only 📫	10					
pumped only 🛛 🗄	51	12. Sediment in well	_ =,	inches	EDCENS	
pumped slowly	5.0	Bottom	-		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
Other 0 5	2	13. Water clarity	Clear D 1 Turbid 2 1	15	Turbid 25	
3. Time spent developing well	2. <u>0</u> min.		(Describe)		(Describe)	
4. Depth of well (from top of well casisng)	t.L.a.					
5. Inside diameter of well	<u>05</u> in.					
6. Volume of water in filter pack and well casing	<u>1, ± gal</u>	Fill in if drilling flui	ds were used a	nd well is a	solid waste facility:	
7. Volume of water removed from well 3 5	. 0 gal.	14. Total menerded		mg/l	mgi	
8. Volume of water added (if any)	gal.	14. Total suspended mg/* solids				
9. Source of water added		15. COD		mg/l	,mg1	
		16. Well developed	w: Nacas (first,	last) and First	1	
10. Analysis performed on water added?	tex El No	First Name: MII	ee Itsau	Last Nam	t. Nimmer	

17. Additional comments on development:

Name and Address of Facility Contact /Owner/Responsible Party First STAN Last Sciences	I hereby certify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.
Facility/Firm: <u>CITY OF RONOMOWOC</u> Street: W233 N2000 RINGEDEN PANEWAY	Signature: Mile North
City/State/Zip: With Hesting WI 53188	Firm: USI-MADISON

NOTE: See instructions for more information including a list of county codes and well type codes.

MONITORING WELL DEVELOPMENT Form 4400-113B Rev. 7-58

Route to: Watershed/Wastewater	Waste Management
Remediation/Redevelopment	0th# 🗖
Facility/Project Name County Name Warder Warder	SHA Well Name MUSG
Facility License, Permit or Monitoring Number County Code	Wis. Unique Well Number DNR Well ID Number
1. Can this well be purged dry? Yes No 2. Well development method surged with bailer and bailed 41 surged with bailer and pumped 61 surged with block and bailed 42 surged with block and pumped 62 surged with block, bailed and pumped 70 compressed air 20 bailed only 10 pumped slowly 51 pumped slowly 50	Before Development After Development 11. Depth to Water (from sop of well casing) a $_ 12.7b$ ft. $_ 12.85$ ft. Date b $_ 041051700$ ft. $_ 04105120$ ft. Date b $_ 041051700$ ft. $_ 04105120$ ft. Date c $_ 14:259$ pm. $_ 15:55$ ft. Time c $_ 14:259$ pm. $_ 15:55$ ft. 12. Sediment in well $\$ inches Datam Clear ff 10
3. Time spent developing well <u>I</u> min.	Turbid 2 1 5 Turbid 2 5 (Describe) (Describe)
4. Depth of well (from top of well casisog)7 @3 ft.	
5. Inside diameter of well $-\frac{2}{2}, \frac{o}{2} = \frac{5}{2}$ in.	
 Volume of water in filter pack and well casing f gal. 	Fill in if drilling fluids were used and well is at colid waste facilities
7. Volume of water removed from well350 gal.	14 Taul many data and the set of
8. Volume of water added (if any)	solida
9. Source of water added	15. COD mg/l mg/l
10. Analysis performed on water added? Yes No (If yes, attach results)	First Name: MILE DR Last Name: NorthEC First Name: UN-MADION

17. Additional comments on development:

Name and Address of Facility Contact /Owner/Responsible Party First STAN Last StMDEN	J hereby certify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.
Facility/Firm: Cort of Bownmawar	Signature:
Street: W233 N2000 ROBOTON PARKNEY	Print Name: Mare Nonnes
City/State/Zip: WATEGAN, WI 53188	Firm: VW-MADLEW

NOTE: See instructions for more information including a list of county codes and well type codes.

MONITORING WELL DEVELOPMENT Form 4400-1138 Rov. 7-98

Route to: Watershed/Wastewater	Wasie Management			
Remediation/Redevelopment	Other	Well Name	リチ	
Facility License, Permit or Monitoring Number Country Code	Wis. Unique Well No	uraber	DNR Well I	D Number
1. Can this well be purged dry? Yes Yes No 2. Well development method surged with bailer and bailed 41 surged with bailer and pumped 61 surged with block and pumped 62 surged with block, bailed and pumped 70 compressed air 20 bailed only 10 pumped only 51 pumped slowly 50 Other 0	 Depth to Water (from top of well casing) Date Time Sediment in well bottom Water clarity 	Before Dev a $- q$, b $\frac{q}{13}$ $\frac{q}{2}$, m m d c c. $\frac{10}{12}$: $\frac{1}{12}$ Clear p 1 Turbid 2 1	elopment / ft / 2 _ c / 2 _ c / y y y _	After Development $ \begin{array}{c} $
3. Time spens developing well 1 D_min. 4. Depth of well (from top of well casisng) 1 ≤ . D_ft. 5. Inside diameter of well 2. D_ft.	an e	(Describe)		Ascribe)
 6. Volume of water in filter pack and well casing, 4 gal. 7. Volume of water removed from well, b gal. 8. Volume of water added (if any) gal. 	Fill in if drilling fluid 14. Total suspended solids	is were used as	ad well is at s	olid weste facility:
9. Source of water added 10. Analysis performed on water added? Ves No (If yes, attach results)	15. COD 16. Well developed b First Name: Firm:	ny: Name (first, i	, mg/l her() sold (*inu Last Name:	,mg/l

17. Additional comments on development:

Name and Address of Facility (First Name: STAN	castact Nowner/Responsible Party Last SUGDAN	I hereby centify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.
Pacifility/Firm: Cry of	herman c	Signature:
Sareet: W233 N	2080 ROBERED AREANNY	Print Name: Miller Manhold
City/State/Zip: <u>//4/48.55</u>	14, W1 5-31 88	Firm: MN- MARGIN

NOTE: See instructions for more information including a list of county codes and well type codes.

MONITORING WELL DEVELOPMENT Form 4400-1138 Ray, 7-98

Route to: Watershed/Wastewater	Waste Management
Remediation/Redevelopment	Other [
Facility/Project Name County Name	e Well Name
WOOD COME BASIN WANK	SHA MW 8
Facility License, Permit or Monitoring Number County Code	Wis. Unique Well Number DNR Well ID Number
1. Can this well be parged dry?	Before Development After Development
	11. Depth to Water
2. Well development method	(mom mpor + 12.61n - 16.21n
surged with bailer and bailed $\square 41$	wea cashig,
surged with bailer and pumped 6 1	
surged with block and bailed 🔲 42	Data b.0913012006 0913012006
surged with block and pumped 🛛 6 2	mm dd yyyy mm dd yyy)
surged with block, bailed and pumped 🔲 70	
compressed air 🛛 20	Time c. 16:22 Bym C: 12 Dpm.
bailed only	
pumped only 51	12. Sedument in wellinches inches
pumped slowly	eoscia
Other D	13. Water clarity Clear 1.0 Clear 20 Turbid 1.5 Turbid 25
3. Time spent developing well ? • min.	(Describe) (Describe)
4. Depth of well (from top of well casisng) e A.	
5. Inside diameter of well 2.55 in.	
 Volume of water in filter pack and well casing f gal. 	
7. Volume of water removed from well 5 gel.	Fill in if drilling fluids were used and well is at solid waste facility:
8. Volume of water added (if any)	14. Total suspended mg/l mg/l mg/l
9. Source of water added	15. CODmg/lmg/l
	16. Well developed by: Name (first, hot) and Firm
10. Analysis performed on water added? Yes No (If yes, attach results)	First Name: Mille Last Name: Norme G

17. Additional comments on development:

Name and Address of Facility Contact /Owner/Responsible Party First Last Last Name: Mathew Name:	I hereby certify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.
Facility/Fiem CFY of Commune	Signature:
Street: W233 NZOBO RUSSERVEN Prox Mark	Print Name: Miler Alexand
City/State/Zipe	Firm: UN-Marian

NOTE: See instructions for more information including a list of county codes and well type codes.
State of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources

MONITORING	WELL DEVELOPMENT
Form 4400-1138	Rav. 7-98

Route to: Watershed/W	estowator 🗖	Waste Management			
Remediation/J	Redevelopment 🔤	Other 🖂			
Facility/Project Name	County Name WARES	7	Well Name M	w9	
Facility License, Permit or Monitoring Number	County Code	Wis, Unique Well Ni	umber 	DNR Well ID	Number
1. Can this well be purged dry?	Yes No	11. Depth to Water	Before Dew	elopment Al	fter Development $\frac{3}{4}$ $\frac{3}{6}$ 6
2. Well development method surged with baller and bailed	41	well casing)	8		
surged with block and bailed	42	Date	b. <u>09130</u> mmdd	IZOOG	<u>091701200</u> mm d d y y y
surged with block, bailed and pumped compressed air	70	Time	c_ <u>2</u> ; <u>3</u>		F. to ppm.
pumped only	10 51 50	12. Sediment in well bottom	17	inches	inches
Other		13. Water clarity	Clear 1 1 Turbid 1	0 Cie 5 Ta	ar 20 mid 25
3. Time spent developing well 4. Denth of well (frame ton of well ensisted)	1 9 0 min. 16.0 n.		(Desenbe)	(Le	scence)
5. Inside diameter of well	2. 05 in.				
6. Volume of water in filter pack and well easing	gal	Will in if drilling fluid			lid wate facility
7. Volume of water removed from well	5. 0 gal.	14. Total suspended		_ mg/l	тедЛ
 Volume of water added (if any) 		solids			
9. Source of water added		15. COD			
10. Analysis performed on water added?	Yes Ø No	First Name: Mlac First Name: UW-y	sy: mane (orse, s ≦ 1A≠noa/	Last Name: /	Vinner

17. Additional comments on development:

Name and Address of Facility Contact /Owner/Responsible Party First Firs	I hereby certify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.
Facility/Firm: City of Acompanyance	Signature:
SUTCOL: W233 N2080 RUDGEDEN BARNEY	Print Nares: Mar Alman
City/State/Zip: Whikes/A ,UI 53/88	Firm:Margon

NOTE: See instructions for more information including a list of county codes and well type codes.

Department of Natural Resources		Form 4400-113B Rev. 7-98
ROUL IO: Watershed/Wastewater	Waste Manageme	ant 🗔
Remediation/Redevelo	panent Other	
Pacifity/Project Name Cou	nty Neme 1. 1492/cu.tet	Well Name MWID
Facility License, Permit or Monitoring Number Con	nty Code Wis. Unique Well	Number DNR Well ID Number
1. Can this well be purged dry?	No 11. Depth to Was	Before Development After Development
2. Well development method surged with bailer and bailed grand with bailer and purpoid D 41	(from top of well casing)	<u>10.20ft [0.23ft</u>
surged with block and builed surged with block and builed surged with block and pumped 62	Date	b <u>p///c/2007 pd//c/2003</u> mmddyyyy mmddyyyy
surged with block, builed and pumped () 70 compressed air () 20 builed only () 10	Time	a.m a.m. c:0 p.m:0 p.m.
pumped only 51 pumped slowly 50 Other	12. Sediment in we bottom 13. Water clarity	Clear D 10 Clear D 20
3. Time spent developing well 0	rðn.	Turbist 1 5 Turbid 2 5 (Describe) (Describe)
4. Depth of well (from top of well easisng) $-\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{5}{2}$, $\frac{2}{2}$	ft.	
5. Inside diameter of well5	in.	
5. Volume of water in filter pack and well casing	gal. Fall in if drilling fl	nide wave need and well is at solid wave facility
7. Volume of water removed from well35_0_	gal.	
8. Voltame of water added (if any)	gal. 19. 10(21 stispend)	a mg/
9. Source of water added	15. COD	mg/1mg/1
10. Analysis performed on water added?	No First Name: ///	l by: Name (first, last) and Firm

17. Additional comments on development:

State of Wine

.

Name and Address of Facility Contact/Owner/Responsible Party First STAN/ Last SUBAEN/	I hereby certify that the above information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge,				
Feeling/Franc City of Olanormours	Signature:				
Street: W233 Nº2080 Ridgerren American	Print Name: Mare Name				
CitylSenerZip: Whykesutt, WI 53188	Firm: Ullv-Altouser				

NOTE: See instructions for more information including a list of county codes and well type codes.

Appendix B

Regional Groundwater Flow Maps







Figure 2. Groundwater Flow Direction Map – 02/21/07.

Groundwater Mounding & Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering August 2007





Groundwater Mounding & Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering August 2007

73



Groundwater Mounding & Contaminant Transport Beneath Stormwater Infiltration Basins University of Wisconsin – Madison Department of Biological Systems Engineering August 2007



Appendix C

Equations

Bouwer & Rice Slug Test Equations and Procedures

$$\ln \frac{R_e}{r_w} = \left[\frac{1.1}{\ln(L_w/r_w)} + \frac{A + B\ln(H - L_w)/r_w}{L_e/r_w}\right]^{-1}$$
(1)

where R_e = radius of influence (L), r_w = radius of well (L), L_w = well length in aquifer (L), A & B are dimensionless constants as function of L_e/r_w , H = thickness of saturate material (L), and L_e = screen length (L). Hydraulic conductivity is found by Equation 2.

$$K = \frac{r_c^2 \ln(R_e / r_w)}{2L_e} \frac{1}{t} \ln \frac{s_0}{s}$$
(2)

where the terms not previously listed are: K = hydraulic conductivity (LT⁻¹), t = time (T), s₀ = initial water level change (L), and s = water level change (L) at time t.

The following steps were followed to determine hydraulic conductivity with the Bouwer and Rice method:

- 1) Plot water level change on a log scale versus time on a linear scale (Figure 13).
- 2) Approximate the straight line portion of the plotted curve by a straight line method and extend the line to time t = 0.
- 3) Calculate $\ln(H L_w)/r_w$ for $L_w \neq H$.
- 4) Find dimensionless parameters A and B as a function of L_e/R_w from the Bouwer and Rice plot (Figure 12.8, pg. 281, Schwartz, et. al., 2003).
- 5) Calculate $ln(R_e/r_w)$.
- 6) Record initial water level change (s_o), and drawdown and time for one other point on line from step 2. Calculate hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 1. Bouwer and Rice Slug Test on MW10.

77